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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Welcome to today's

          3  joint hearing of the Committees on Transportation

          4  and the Committee for the Aging. My name is John

          5  Liu.  I have the privilege of Chairing the Committee

          6  on Transportation, and I am honored to be joined in

          7  Co-Chairing today's hearing with my colleague,

          8  Council Member Maria del Carmen Arroyo, Chair of the

          9  Committee on Aging.

         10                 Today, the Committees will hold a

         11  hearing on two important bills related to pedestrian

         12  safety.  Intro. No. 125, which was introduced by

         13  Council Member Michael Nelson; and Intro. No. 217,

         14  which was introduced by Council Member Gentile.

         15  Vincent Gentile.

         16                 Intro. No. 125 requires that the

         17  Department of Transportation will install signs

         18  within one block in all directions of a senior

         19  center, or naturally occurring retirement community.

         20    The 2000 Census reported that senior citizens

         21  comprise 16 percent of New York City's population.

         22  Yet despise comprising only 16 percent of the

         23  population, seniors represent one- third of the

         24  City's pedestrian fatalities.  This may be because

         25  seniors are more likely to have visual or mobility
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          2  impairments.

          3                 A recent study by Transportation

          4  Alternatives showed that 90 percent of seniors who

          5  attended a senior center in Northern Manhattan,

          6  walked to the center, and many of these seniors had

          7  no means to get to the center other than walking.

          8                 Slowing down traffic in areas where

          9  there are a large concentration of seniors may help

         10  lower the pedestrian fatality rate.

         11                 The second bill on our agenda is

         12  Intro. No. 217, which would require that the

         13  Department of Transportation or its contractors

         14  paint pedestrian crosswalks.  The painted crosswalks

         15  would help pedestrians identify areas on the

         16  sidewalk where they can cross, and also give

         17  motorists a visual cue that pedestrians may be

         18  crossing at that location.  The painting of these

         19  crosswalks seem to be a simple way to improve

         20  pedestrian safety.

         21                 Another problem caused by unpainted

         22  crosswalks is that many curb cuts are hard to

         23  identify, and may be mid- blocked, which has caused

         24  many motorists to get tickets for parking at a curb

         25  cut.  The clear demarkation of curb cuts and
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          2  crosswalks will help motorists to identify legal

          3  parking spaces, as well as improve pedestrian

          4  safety.

          5                 Once again, I am honored to be joined

          6  by my colleague, Chairperson Maria del Carmen

          7  Arroyo.  We're also joined today by members of the

          8  Transportation Committee, Council Member Joseph

          9  Addabbo, from Queens; Council Member Daniel

         10  Garodnick, from Manhattan; Council Member Jessica

         11  Lappin, from Manhattan; Council Member Miguel

         12  Martinez, from Manhattan.  And I'll defer to my

         13  colleague, Chairperson Maria del Carmen Arroyo for

         14  the introduction of the colleagues on her Committee.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Thank you Mr.

         16  Chairman.  And good morning to everyone.  Thank you

         17  all for being here to listen to this very important

         18  conversation.  Today, we're going to discuss a bill,

         19  in particular, Intro. 125, that would mandate the

         20  Department of Transportation to place signs within

         21  one block of naturally occurring retirement

         22  communities, or NORCs, for those of us in the aging

         23  business.  And senior centers, to notify motorists

         24  that there is a high concentration of seniors and

         25  elderly in the area.
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          2                 It is imperative that we act to

          3  improve the safety of all pedestrians in the City,

          4  but especially senior citizens, who are especially

          5  vulnerable in traffic- related injuries.  Council

          6  Member Liu gave you the numbers on the over- 60

          7  population.  They make up 16 percent of the City's

          8  population.  But suffer the greatest number of

          9  injuries and fatalities due to motorists accidents.

         10  The percentage is clearly disproportionate, and a

         11  serious problem in our City.  And something we must

         12  do something about.

         13                 Many seniors have visual and hearing

         14  impairments, which makes them less aware of oncoming

         15  traffic.  Seniors are generally frailer, and have

         16  more physical impairments.  And when compared to the

         17  rest of the population, require a great deal more

         18  time to get across intersections and streets.  The

         19  bill will take an important step towards creating

         20  safer pedestrian environment for seniors in that it

         21  will put drivers on notice that they should be on

         22  the lookout for elderly citizens and thus, drive

         23  accordingly.

         24                 More still has to be done, however.

         25  The Department of Transportation  --  I'm happy to

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEES ON TRANSPORTATION AND AGING

          2  see Commissioner Mike here  -- we got very friendly

          3  over the Yankee Stadium negotiations  --  the

          4  Department needs to treat areas where seniors are

          5  concentrated very much the way it treats school

          6  zones.  It should look at lowering speeds, increase

          7  the time the traffic lights take to change, to allow

          8  more time for seniors to cross the streets, and

          9  increase penalties for more motorists who do not

         10  follow the law, if so adjusted.

         11                 This bill is an excellent start

         12  towards addressing this issue, and I look forward to

         13  hearing from the Administration, those of you in the

         14  public, and in particular, the seniors.  I'm eager

         15  to work with my colleague, Council Member Liu, Chair

         16  of the Transportation Committee, and look forward to

         17  working to make the City streets safer for our

         18  seniors.  Thank you.

         19                 And with that, I'd like to

         20  acknowledge the members of the Aging Committee who

         21  have joined us.  Council Member Jimmy Vacca, from

         22  the Bronx, who is also Chair of the Subcommittee on

         23  Senior Centers; Council Member Gentile; Council

         24  Member Gonzalez; and the important guy in the back,

         25  Council Member Gallagher.  Oh. Nelson.  Yes.
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          2  Council Member Nelson.  Welcome all, and we look

          3  forward to your testimony.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you

          5  Chairperson Arroyo.  We have an opening statement

          6  from both Council Member Vincent Gentile and Council

          7  Member Michael Nelson.  We'll start with Council

          8  Member Nelson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you

         10  Chairman Liu.

         11                 We want this legislation because we

         12  respect and revere our seniors, and there's

         13  obviously a problem when there's 16 percent of our

         14  population, our senior citizens, and yet

         15  approximately 33 and a third percent of the

         16  fatalities involve them.  This was received very

         17  favorably in my district senior centers.  And

         18  indeed, we received petitions from two other

         19  boroughs as well, Community Boards.

         20                 We must be doing more to protect or

         21  seniors, obviously.  And I'm open for any

         22  alternative, any idea, any clear markings to stop

         23  motorists from speeding.  I know when I drive around

         24  and I see "slow down, school crossings", I slow

         25  down.  And I believe the majority of people.  Will
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          2  people not realize this? Will people not care?  Of

          3  course.  There's always those type of drivers.  But

          4  many, many, many others will, having been advised of

          5  this situation.

          6                 So I thank Chair Liu and Chair Arroyo

          7  for holding this hearing today.  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

          9  Member Nelson. Initial comments from Council Member

         10  Gentile.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you

         12  Chairman Liu and Chairman Arroyo.  And the members

         13  of the Transportation and Aging Committees.

         14                 I'm here today as a member of the

         15  Aging Committee, and the drafter of Intro. 217 of

         16  2006.  I want to thank Chairman Liu for giving this

         17  bill a prompt hearing before us today.  Both these

         18  bills are actually important to my district.  We are

         19  now in the process of forming a NORC in Bay Ridge,

         20  and I have the pleasure of serving one of the

         21  communities with the highest per capita number of

         22  senior citizens in the City of New York.

         23                 Intro. 217 has been an issue in my

         24  community, but also ranges throughout all five

         25  boroughs.  I want to thank several people who have
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          2  helped draft this bill, and are testifying here

          3  today.  Particularly I want to  --  some of them are

          4  testifying, not all of them, but Phyllis O'Neill

          5  Perfetto, her husband Ralph; and certainly Peter and

          6  Patricia Killen, with the Bay Ridge Consumer

          7  Federation; Al Asfazadour; Jane Kelly; Bob Capano.

          8  We thank you for taking the interest in safeguarding

          9  our community. And of course, Ten General too.

         10                 Intro. 217 is a law that serves

         11  several groups on our City's roadways.  The bill

         12  serves to improve situations, both pedestrians and

         13  motorists encounter in New York City.  It's well

         14  know that pedestrian walkways are the safest area to

         15  cross within the hustle and bustle of our City.

         16  Crossing within the lines is a precaution that

         17  offers us an increases sense of safety.  While

         18  crossing safely is an increasingly important for

         19  senior citizens, while crossing within the

         20  crosswalks does not eliminate any chance of a

         21  vehicular/pedestrian accident, it does offer the

         22  best possible deterrent.   It's essential for

         23  pedestrian to motorists alike to be able to clearly

         24  view these areas where not only our seniors will be

         25  crossing, but all members of our community,
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          2  including our children.            So my bill sets

          3  forth the following goals: To mandate that the

          4  Department of Transportation delineate all

          5  pedestrian walkways.  The legislation also calls for

          6  the adjoining curb cuts to be marked with a

          7  conspicuous color to better serve the community.  It

          8  is extremely important for many, many people in our

          9  community to see the curb cuts.

         10                 Intro. 217 also calls for the

         11  Department, when contracting, to mandate that a curb

         12  cut is authorized by the Department, for the

         13  formulation of a crosswalk that the contractor must

         14  paint that crosswalk.  And there's a penalty of $500

         15  for failing to do so.

         16                 Finally, this legislation would

         17  mandate that upon receiving notification that a

         18  crosswalk is in disrepair, and in drastic need of

         19  repainting, the Department would be subject to the

         20  timetable of 10 days to a response after receiving

         21  the complaint, and seven days for the repair.  This

         22  timetable will greatly benefit the upkeep and repair

         23  of our crosswalks and our curb cuts.

         24                 Currently, the penalty for parking in

         25  a crosswalk is a non- moving violation of $165.  The
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          2  second highest fee for a non moving violation.  Now,

          3  we all understand that it's dangerous to block a

          4  crosswalk or an intersection, but it's really

          5  entrapment when a motorists receives this type of

          6  summons and there's no clear crosswalk marked on the

          7  ground.  You will hear from testimony today that in

          8  many cases, in mid- block curb cuts cannot be seen

          9  by the motorist.  It is really inconceivable that a

         10  person receive $165 ticket for blocking a pedestrian

         11  crosswalk that is not marked, and cannot be seen.

         12  That's happened in my neighborhood, along Shore

         13  Road, there are many mid- block curb cuts, with no

         14  demarcations. And I'm sure that it's the case around

         15  our City in many cases.

         16                 You'll  hear from Jane Kelly, I

         17  believe she's on her way, and she will testify as to

         18  her experiences in this regard.

         19                 At the close of last year, this bill

         20  had 19 sponsors in total.  I think there are six or

         21  seven so far this year.  So I urge you to support

         22  this bill, if you haven't already.  I seek your co-

         23  sponsorship.  And I thank you Chairman Arroyo and

         24  Chairman Liu for having our bill before us today.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council
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          2  Member Gentile. We are delighted to be joined by the

          3  Commissioner of the New York City Department of

          4  Transportation, Iris Weinshall, and her Deputy

          5  Commissioners.  Commissioner Weinshall, good

          6  morning.

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Good morning

          8  Chairman Liu. And members of the Transportation

          9  Committee and Aging Committee.

         10                 I am Iris Weinshall, Commissioner of

         11  the New York City Department of Transportation.  And

         12  with me here today is Michael Primeggia, DOT's

         13  Deputy Commissioner for Traffic Operations; and Leon

         14  Heyward, DOT's Deputy Commissioner for Sidewalk

         15  Inspection and Management.

         16                 Thank you for providing us with this

         17  opportunity to testify at this hearing today on

         18  Intro. 125, relating to signage placement at

         19  naturally occurring retirement communities and

         20  senior citizen centers.  And Intro. 217, relating to

         21  the demarcations of pedestrian crosswalks.  We

         22  welcome the opportunity to be here today.

         23                 Intro. 125 would require DOT to

         24  install one or more signs within one block from a

         25  naturally occurring retirement community, or a
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          2  senior citizen center, requiring that motorists

          3  lower their speed, and recommending other

          4  pedestrian- friendly actions to ensure the

          5  protection of senior citizens.

          6                 Let me begin by saying that ensuring

          7  the safety of all those traveling on the City's

          8  streets and sidewalks has been, and continues to be,

          9  a top priority for DOT.  As I stated in my budget

         10  testimony before this Committee last month, traffic-

         11  related deaths remain at their lowest levels, in

         12  nearly a century.  Since 190, fatalities have

         13  decreased dramatically by over 55 percent. From 701

         14  fatalities in 1990, to 318 in 2005.  In addition,

         15  the number of pedestrian fatalities reached an all-

         16  time low of 154 last year.  These statistics are the

         17  result of our efforts to reduce accidents, injuries,

         18  and fatalities on our roadways.  Through safety

         19  engineering, enforcement, and education.

         20                 Safety engineering is the most

         21  important tool we have available, and we utilize

         22  this tool consistently, on a case by- case basis,

         23  following the guidelines established in the Federal

         24  Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices.  Or

         25  MUTCD.  The MUTCD is published by the Federal
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          2  Highway Administration, and defines the standards

          3  used by road managers nationwide to install and

          4  maintain traffic- control devices on all streets and

          5  highways.

          6                 While the intent of Intro. 125 is

          7  admirable, the posting of warning signs at all

          8  approaches to every senior citizen center and

          9  related facilities, regardless of need as

         10  contemplated in Intro. 125, would be counter-

         11  productive, and runs counter to traffic engineering

         12  standards.  Warning signs should only be installed

         13  when a real condition exists.  Not a perceived

         14  condition.

         15                 As stated in Section 2C.02 of the

         16  MUTCD, "The use of warning signs shall be used on an

         17  engineering study or an engineering judgement".  It

         18  further states that the use of warning signs should

         19  be kept to a minimum, as the unnecessary use of

         20  warning signs tends to breed disrespect for all

         21  signs.  In other words, the more signs that are up,

         22  the less people will pay attention to them.

         23                 There are currently one point three

         24  million signs posted here in the City that DOT

         25  maintains.  About 170,00 of which are replaced or
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          2  repaired each year.  Many of these signs are what we

          3  call "life protecting devices", such as One- Way

          4  arrow signs, and Stop signs that motorists must see.

          5    On top of this, we will have others that I think

          6  we will all agree are necessary, and serve a real

          7  purpose, such as No Truck signs, street name signs,

          8  signs to make use of curb space, and others for day

          9  lighting to increase visibility.  As well as anti-

         10  idling signs that we have posted to adhere to Local

         11  Law 25 of 2004.  And the universe continues to grow.

         12

         13                 We all need to understand that the

         14  more signs we add to our streetscape, the more our

         15  message gets lost.  The posting of the reduced speed

         16  signs proposed in Intro. 125, which could add up to

         17  four signs at some locations, would also simply use

         18  valuable monetary resources that could be better

         19  spent enhancing safety where a real need exists.  As

         20  you know, our resources are already being diverted

         21  to change parking regulation signage, as a result of

         22  Local Law 90, relating to Sunday meters.

         23                 That said, however, we whole-

         24  heartedly agree that safety of our senior citizens

         25  must be a priority.  And we acknowledge that there
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          2  are engineering improvements that can be made around

          3  senior centers and senior- related facilities.  To

          4  reinforce the need to look at senior centers on a

          5  case- by- case basis, let me highlight some of

          6  examples of safety engineering work we have

          7  completed.

          8                 At the request of St. Patrick's

          9  Nursing Home, located in Van Cortland Park Village

         10  in the Bronx, we investigated the area near the

         11  nursing home for signals, speed bumps, and other

         12  traffic controls.  Based on the outcome of this

         13  study, we'll be installing a traffic signal later

         14  this Spring at the intersection of Dickson Avenue

         15  and Van Cortland Park South.  Speed bumps were not

         16  feasible at this location, because it's located on a

         17  bus route.               On Staten Island, we

         18  received concerns from seniors at the New Dorf area

         19  about crossing Highland Boulevard along Ebbett

         20  Street, located near Our Lady of Lourdes Church.  As

         21  a result of a study, at the Highland/Ebbetts

         22  intersection, we installed pedestrian warning signs,

         23  and adjusted the traffic light timing by several

         24  seconds to benefit pedestrians.

         25                 Last Fall, on the south shore of
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          2  Staten Island, following a traffic study, we

          3  installed a traffic light in front of a relatively

          4  new senior center, on the grounds of Mt. Loredo.

          5                 In Woodside, Queens, we implemented

          6  improvements at the request of the residents of the

          7  Big Six Towers at 60th Road and Queens Boulevard.  A

          8  huge apartment complex, with a high percentage of

          9  elderly residents.  There were concerns that there

         10  was not enough time to cross the Boulevard.  The

         11  crosswalks were not aligned.  That vehicles were

         12  making illegal left turns.  In response, we

         13  increased pedestrian crossing times, installed

         14  flexible delineators to close off the turns.

         15  Realigned the crosswalks, and installed high-

         16  visibility crosswalks.  Installed a median

         17  protection.  Installed fencing along the medians to

         18  prevent mid- block crossings.  And converted 60th

         19  Street to one- way northbound from a two- way

         20  operation, to improve operations of this narrow

         21  roadway.

         22                 As these examples illustrate, there

         23  is no clear, cookie- cutter solution.  Each location

         24  has its unique characteristics, relating to roadway

         25  geometry, land use, traffic volume.  And therefore,
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          2  it's more appropriate to examine and address the

          3  specific needs of individual senior centers and

          4  related facilities to counter the unique issues that

          5  may exist at a particular location.

          6                 Measures such as changes in signal

          7  timing, crosswalk markings, speed reducers,

          8  daylighting, and numerous other traffic engineering

          9  measures instead of, or in addition to signage, may

         10  make sense in one area, but may not be best suited

         11  for another.

         12                 In addition, while the focus here has

         13  been on engineering, in many cases, education and

         14  enforcement can be just as effective or can

         15  compliment engineering efforts.  DOT's Safety

         16  Education Unit, for example, regularly conducts

         17  educational outreach to older adults, through

         18  presentations at senior centers across the City.  As

         19  well as providing outreach at fairs and special

         20  events, including the Age and Action Fair, Senior

         21  Stroll, and Grandparents Day.  The Unit works

         22  closely with the Department of Aging and the Health

         23  and Hospitals Corporation to plan these events and

         24  to develop informational materials specifically for

         25  the older adult population.
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          2                 In sum, while the intent of this bill

          3  is admirable, DOT does not support it.  Decisions to

          4  implement safety improvements, whether it's signage,

          5  traffic signals, markings, should be continued to be

          6  made on a case- by- case basis.  In accordance with

          7  the MUTCD, after a detailed engineering study of an

          8  area or intersection indicates the need for them.

          9                 I would also like to add that we

         10  conduct studies on any and all requests we receive.

         11  And would be happy to examine any senior centers or

         12  senior- related facility that the Council believes

         13  may benefit from such a study.

         14                 Now let me turn to Intro. 217.  This

         15  bill would require DOT or its contractors to

         16  demarcate all pedestrian crosswalks with painted

         17  lines connecting the corresponding ends of

         18  pedestrian curb cuts.  Which is also known as

         19  pedestrian ramps. For any new curb cuts, the

         20  painting must occur within one week of its

         21  completion, and within five days of the painting,

         22  DOT must update and add each new crosswalk with a

         23  curb cut to a curb cut list that is to be

         24  maintained.  The bill also provides for a civil

         25  penalty of $500 for a contractor's failure to
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          2  demarcate a crosswalk within the one- week

          3  timeframe.

          4                 Intro. 217 additionally would require

          5  the DOT Commissioner to regularly inspect crosswalks

          6  and curb cuts, to determine if any are in need of

          7  repair or repainting.  In addition, DOT would need

          8  to make a determination within 10 days of receiving

          9  comments from the public that a specific crosswalk

         10  and curb cut is not clearly marked.  Lastly, if a

         11  determination is made that a particular crosswalk

         12  needs repainting, DOT would have one week to repaint

         13  it.

         14                 Here too, we follow the MUTCD, which

         15  does not recommend the demarkation of crosswalks at

         16  uncontrolled intersections.  That is, a crossing

         17  that is not governed by a traffic signal or a Stop

         18  sign.  A marked crosswalk alone does not improve

         19  safety for pedestrians.  We do not want to send

         20  pedestrians a conflicting message.  We want them to

         21  exercise caution when crossing an uncontrolled

         22  intersection.

         23                 The MUCTD further cautions that

         24  crosswalk lines should not be used indiscriminately.

         25    And recommends engineering studies before such
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          2  markings are installed at uncontrolled locations.

          3                 The sole exception we make is for

          4  school crosswalks, which may be installed at

          5  uncontrolled locations.  After the requisite

          6  engineering study is performed.  Provided that the

          7  location is actively controlled by a school crossing

          8  guard.  When installing these types of crosswalks,

          9  we also install school crossing warning signs, and

         10  markings to alert motorists to the unusual nature of

         11  the crossing.

         12                 In addition, this bill, similar to

         13  the last, would place a monetary burden on DOT,

         14  which again, could be better spent addressing safety

         15  needs elsewhere.

         16                 Due to the requirements of the bill,

         17  DOT would need resources to install crosswalks

         18  located at all pedestrian ramp locations, Citywide.

         19  Paint and maintain the crosswalks and pedestrian

         20  ramps, conduct regular inspections of both

         21  crosswalks and pedestrian ramps, and respond to

         22  complaints, all while adhering to the strict

         23  timeframes outlined in the bill.

         24                 In effect, we estimate the total cost

         25  of this bill to be $6.9 million initially, with

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEES ON TRANSPORTATION AND AGING

          2  annual maintenance and staffing costs of $2.2

          3  million.

          4                 In conclusion, we do not believe that

          5  non- engineers should be making engineering

          6  decisions.  We do not support this bill from both

          7  safety and monetary perspectives.  And wonder, if in

          8  fact, the real objective of this bill is to assist

          9  motorists who are getting tickets for parking

         10  illegally in front of curb cuts. If so, I find it

         11  troubling that someone would want to assist illegal

         12  parkers at the expense of compromising safety.

         13                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         14  testify before you today.  And as time allows, I

         15  would be happy to answer all questions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you

         17  Commissioner Weinshall. Let me just state from the

         18  outset that the last couple of sentences seem

         19  troubling, and totally unnecessary.  I think the

         20  intent of Intro. 217 addresses a problem that does

         21  exist in parts of the City, and that no member of

         22  the Council would endeavor to assist an illegal

         23  parker at the expense of compromising safety.  So

         24  for you to imply that that's what's taking place, I

         25  find unnecessary, to say in your prepared testimony.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well I

          3  appreciate that Mr. Chairman.  I appreciate that's

          4  not the intent here.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Do you now

          6  appreciate it?  Or did you appreciate it even before

          7  you testified?

          8                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: No, I now

          9  appreciate it.  I appreciate your clarifying that

         10  for me.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sure.  Thank you.

         12                 With regard to the senior centers,

         13  you stated in your testimony that the Department

         14  would be happy to go out and conduct and examination

         15  of the vicinity of senior centers, as requested.  Is

         16  that something that you could provide us with a

         17  timeframe for?  For example, if a Council Member, or

         18  actually, a Community Board, or any other elected

         19  official would make a request of the Department of

         20  Transportation, how long does it generally take for

         21  the study around the senior center to take place?

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Ninety days.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Ninety days has

         24  always been the timeframe that the Department of

         25  Transportation  --  and I think it's a very good
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          2  timeframe,  --  completed the studies upon request

          3  for traffic signals and traffic control devices.

          4                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Actually,

          5  that number has come down over the last few years.

          6  It used to be much higher.  And we were able, over

          7  time, to bring that down to 90 days.  At one point,

          8  the agency was up to six months.  Recognizing that

          9  these studies are very important, we put additional

         10  staff into conducting studies, and we brought it

         11  down to 90 days or basically, three months.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  And I think

         13  that's a rather responsive timeframe to work with

         14  here.  And that includes not only the request for

         15  the traffic control devices, or requests for studies

         16  for traffic control devices.

         17                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But also a

         19  comprehensive study of the area around senior

         20  centers because we're not just talking about the

         21  traffic control devices.  You had mentioned speed

         22  bumps and  --

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Exactly.

         24  What we do is, we look in an area, and you know,

         25  some areas could already have traffic lights, but
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          2  that's not enough.  We've go to look at other tools

          3  that we have in our toolbox to be able to deal with

          4  the issues at hand.  So, as I mentioned in my

          5  testimony, there are other things that we could add

          6  to the intersection to make it safer for all New

          7  Yorkers.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  There

          9  has been talk in recent years of traffic signals

         10  that receive signals sent by computers, so that the

         11  timing of the signals can be altered.  Are those

         12  traffic signals in use today?  And to what extent?

         13  And the reason I ask is, because there are often

         14  times near senior centers, where obviously, the

         15  amount of times given to pedestrians has to be

         16  balanced with the amount of time given to traffic

         17  that does need to traverse an intersection.

         18  Otherwise, the congestion builds up, and that leads

         19  to a hazardous situation.

         20                 Now, in the past, we've suggested

         21  that we figure out a way to adjust the timing of the

         22  signals during the day.  So, for example, during the

         23  rush hours, you give the traffic on the main

         24  thoroughfare more time to get through, whereas the

         25  amount of time necessary for the pedestrians to
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          2  cross that main thoroughfare may not be as lengthy,

          3  just because there are fewer pedestrians during the

          4  rush hours.  But in the middle of the day,

          5  especially when the senior citizens are out there in

          6  full force, shall we say, and there is less

          7  vehicular traffic, that we have this kind of

          8  capability to adjust the signal timing mid- day.  Is

          9  there  -- where are we on that effort?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: There

         11  are approximately 12,000 signal light locations in

         12  New York City. Right now, half of them are under

         13  computer control.  We are in the process of looking

         14  at technology, a different type of technology than

         15  we currently use to communicate with our signals

         16  through twisted- pair phone lines, because it has

         17  not been as effective, and Verizon does not support

         18  those  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The what phone

         20  lines?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA:

         22  Currently, most of the signals that are under

         23  computer control, we communicate with them through

         24  phone lines.  Particularly, all of those in the

         25  boroughs outside of Manhattan.  In Manhattan, we
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          2  have our own network, our own coaxial cable network,

          3  which we built and maintain.  And so the signals in

          4  Manhattan are connected to our Management Center

          5  through our own network.  But outside of Manhattan,

          6  the signals are currently connected through Verizon

          7  phone lines, what we call twisted pairs, copper

          8  wire.

          9                 Verizon no longer supports that

         10  system to the extent that we need it.  And so we are

         11  not looking at increasing the number of signals

         12  under computer control, using that system.

         13                 And so, we are looking at alternative

         14  technologies, to bring another 2,700 signals under

         15  computer control, and we expect that within the next

         16  three years, the number of signals under computer

         17  control will rise to about 8,700, from about 6,000

         18  today.

         19                 The number of signals, as I

         20  mentioned, are about 12,000.  And each year, we add

         21  about 200 signals to that total.

         22                 In terms of what the signals that are

         23  under computer control, we indeed can, and do,

         24  change signal phasing, and signal --  the amount of

         25  time provided for various movements, depending on
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          2  the time of the day.  Some of the times of day, it's

          3  because traffic peaks during certain parts of the

          4  day.  But as you mentioned, there are some locations

          5  where the signal cycles were expanded so that

          6  pedestrians could have more time to cross the

          7  particular major during particular times of the day,

          8  when traffic is not horrid.  Queens Boulevard is a

          9  great example, as Commissioner reminds me, where we

         10  went from a 120- second cycle, where we go from 120-

         11  second cycle during parts of the day, to 150 second

         12  cycle during peak times.  And the purpose of that is

         13  to provide additional time for the pedestrians to

         14  cross the major movement.   To cross Queens

         15  Boulevard, which is the major movement.

         16                 The additional time provided at those

         17  locations is not provided to the major street,

         18  Queens Boulevard, it's provided to the cross street.

         19    Because that is the time when the pedestrians get

         20  to cross Queens Boulevard.

         21                 And so, the short answer to your

         22  question is yes, at those 6,000 locations that are

         23  under computer control, we can do more than we can

         24  at the other half that are not.  They are more fixed

         25  time.  And in a lot of those locations, we are
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          2  actually  -- we actually have implemented changes in

          3  the fixed time operation, so that pedestrians have

          4  more opportunities to cross in the course of the

          5  hour.  They may have less time, during each

          6  particular crossing, but they don't have to wait as

          7  long for their crossing that comes up.  We find

          8  that's particularly useful at locations where the

          9  width that needs to be crossed is relatively minor.

         10  Less than 40 or 50 feet, for example.  So where we

         11  have streets that have a width that is small, well,

         12  relatively small, we can afford to shorten the

         13  amount of time provided during each crossing, but

         14  provide many more opportunities to cross during the

         15  course of the hour.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  And is

         17  there any kind of comprehensive strategy, Citywide,

         18  or at least beginning with particular boroughs

         19  first, to adjust the timing in and around  -- in the

         20  vicinity of the senior centers?  Because the seniors

         21  are definitely pedestrians during the daytime.  And

         22  at least from the outset, makes sense that we have a

         23  strategy towards all the streets nearby these senior

         24  centers.  At least the ones that have been

         25  identified.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: As I

          3  mentioned in my testimony, we have worked with a

          4  number of communities where there are senior

          5  centers, and they've requested us to do studies, and

          6  we would continue to do that with any request that

          7  came into DOT.

          8                 One of the things that we clearly

          9  look at is the signal time, to see if we can, as

         10  Mike pointed out, at certain times of the day, give

         11  more crossing to whoever needs to cross the street,

         12  to seniors who need to cross the street.

         13                 So clearly, that's one of the things

         14  that we look at when we do this type of engineering

         15  study.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  I just

         17  have one more question before we turn it over to my

         18  Co- Chair.  With regard to the kinds of traffic

         19  signals, pedestrian signals that many other cities

         20  now operate, what is our thinking, what is New York

         21  City's thinking, or the Department of

         22  Transportation's thinking with regard to the count-

         23  down signals?  The signals that indicate to a

         24  pedestrian wishing to cross the street, mostly major

         25  thoroughfares, indicating how many seconds remain
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          2  before the light turns red on the pedestrian.

          3                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'll let Mike

          4  go into a lot more detail, but let me just say that

          5  we are opposed to those type of count- down signals.

          6    Just talking about the population that we're

          7  talking about in this hearing, seniors, you know,

          8  people's perception that they think that they would

          9  have more time to cross, and then in reality, they

         10  wouldn't, because, oh yes, they say, well I'm

         11  healthy enough.  I can get across in 35 seconds.

         12  But you know, sometimes our bodies give out, and you

         13  know, we're not as quick as we'd like to think.  And

         14  they could find themselves in the middle of an

         15  intersection with the light turning.  So we really

         16  don't want to give, whether it be seniors, or kids,

         17  or just general public that type of discretion.  We

         18  think it's rather dangerous.  But I'll let Mike go

         19  into a little more detail.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Yes.

         21  The count- down signal, what it counts down is the

         22  clearance interval.  It doesn't count down the

         23  green, or the walk time, what it counts down is the

         24  clearance interval, or what we use as our flashing

         25   "Don't Walk". The meaning of the flashing "Don't

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEES ON TRANSPORTATION AND AGING

          2  Walk" isn't hurry up, start walking quicker, you've

          3  got to cross the street.  What it really means is

          4  that if the flashing "Don't Walk" starts, the

          5  pedestrian should not start the crossing.  However,

          6  if the pedestrian is already in the intersection,

          7  the pedestrian has sufficient time to either

          8  complete the crossing, or get to a place of safety.

          9                 What we have found in looking at

         10  studies in other cities that have introduced the

         11  pedestrian signals, is that the number of --  the

         12  count- down signal encourages more people to start

         13  during the countdown than would otherwise happen

         14  during the flashing "Don't Walk" phase, which is

         15  when we don't want pedestrians to start.  And so we

         16  find more pedestrians get trapped in the

         17  intersection, without having the opportunity  --

         18  without sufficient time to complete their crossing.

         19                 In addition, we're concerned about

         20  motorists' behavior when faced with the cross down.

         21  I'm sorry, when faced with the count- down.  The

         22  count- down is also visible by motorists, and we

         23  already know what happens when motorists approach an

         24  intersection when the flashing "Don't Walk" starts.

         25  What we fear is that that type of behavior will get
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          2  even worse when faced with the count- down.  When

          3  actually observing the count- down.

          4                 Finally, we find that people make,

          5  for whatever reasons, do not always make the best

          6  decisions.  Both motorists and pedestrians, when

          7  faced with certain types of information.  And we do

          8  not believe that  --  at least the studies done to

          9  date, do not give us confidence that people will

         10  continue to make the safest choices when given that

         11  additional information.

         12                 So again, as the Commissioner

         13  mentioned, we do not favor count- down signals.  We

         14  believe that motorists should adhere to the flashing

         15   "Don't Walk" as a don't start recommendation.  We

         16  use signs like that throughout the City, at

         17  pedestrian crossing locations that are particularly

         18  problematic.  For example, on Queens Boulevard,

         19  where we placed pedestrian- related signage advising

         20  pedestrians what the various displays mean.  And we

         21  believe that our approach has been very successful.

         22  As the Commissioner mentioned in her testimony, the

         23  number of pedestrian related fatalities and crashes

         24  continues to decline in New York City.  New York

         25  City is the safest large city, when it comes to
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          2  crashes between motor vehicles and pedestrians.  Our

          3  rate continues to decline, as the Commissioner

          4  mentioned, and in fact, has declined by more than

          5  half since I started looking at this problem in

          6  1990.

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Having said

          8  all this, we get probably I would say, a lot of mail

          9  on folks from New York who go to other cities that

         10  have these count- down signals.  What I have asked

         11  the staff to do, is to look at areas in the City

         12  where maybe we can do a pilot program, where it may

         13  be feasible to try out four or five of these count-

         14  down signals.  And then do a before study, and an

         15  after study.  Unfortunately, we have not developed

         16  that list yet, and as soon as we have, we will go to

         17  those communities to see if they are interested in

         18  us placing those count- down signals at those

         19  locations.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you

         21  Commissioner.  I appreciate those comments.  Because

         22  I think it is time that we take a look at these

         23  count- down signals.  Deputy Commissioner Primeggia,

         24  you mentioned that the study that the Department has

         25  looked at studies.  Have any of those studies been

                                                            38

          1  COMMITTEES ON TRANSPORTATION AND AGING

          2  conducted in New York City?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: No.

          4  They haven't. Because we don't use the devices in

          5  New York City.  The studies that I'm referring to

          6  have happened throughout the country, however.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.  Well,

          8  it's probably time that we take a look at having

          9  those devices in New York City. And while it may not

         10  be necessary to test the device on the corner of

         11  Broadway and 42nd Street, there may be other areas

         12  of the City that are more conducive, and more like

         13  the cities that already use the count- down signals,

         14  so that we're not giving advanced warning to the

         15  motorists about how many more seconds they have

         16  before they can step on the gas pedal.

         17                 By the way, all of that occurs today.

         18    Because motorists can generally see when the light

         19  in the other direction turns yellow, and that gives

         20  them the cue to get ready to step on that gas.

         21  Similarly, I don't believe that most pedestrians in

         22  this City understand the Department of

         23  Transportation's recommendation about that flashing

         24  red hand, indicating  --  supposedly indicating that

         25  no one should begin to enter the crosswalk at that
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          2  point. Most people don't understand that that is the

          3  recommendation.

          4                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Mr. Chairman,

          5  which is why our safe routes to schools, and our

          6  Safety City are really important, so crucial.  I

          7  know you've had hearings here before about safe

          8  routes to schools.  We've spoken at length here

          9  about our Safety City program, where we take kids

         10  from all different schools, have them spend a half a

         11  day at Safety City.  We have  -- David, how many

         12  locations?  Five or six throughout the City now. And

         13  we teach kids just what you're talking about, as

         14  well as in my testimony, I pointed out that the same

         15  Safety Education group will go to senior centers all

         16  throughout the City, again, with similar programs

         17  about educating people, informing people about the

         18  right way to cross.

         19                 I might point out that our Safety

         20  Education program is a not- for- profit that is

         21  totally funded by private contributions.  So

         22  clearly, if we can do as many schools as we can with

         23  the sums we are able to collect, that's just a good

         24  thing.              And as for the flashing, the

         25  count- down signals, just what you talked about,
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          2  that's the type of locations that we're looking for.

          3    We're looking for four or five locations where we

          4  can accurately test these count- down signals, in

          5  light of the nature of life in New York City, and

          6  the geometry of various roads.  So hopefully, by the

          7  Fall, we'll have something to announce in terms of

          8  this pilot program.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well that's good to

         10  hear.  And we'll look forward to hearing what the

         11  Department has in terms of a concrete plan to begin

         12  to test the effectiveness of these count down

         13  signals in New York City, and not relying on studies

         14  conducted in other cities.  Because this is being

         15  brought up at this particular hearing on Intro. 125,

         16  I would certainly recommend or suggest that you look

         17  at the areas nearby senior centers.  The senior

         18  citizens that I've come across, and that I daresay,

         19  all of my colleagues have come across are very

         20  safety minded.  And while the mentality that you

         21  allude to in your testimony may be applicable to

         22  younger pedestrians, there are many seniors in our

         23  districts who state very clearly that it would be

         24  very helpful for them to know how much more time

         25  they have to cross.  No senior is out there trying

                                                            41

          1  COMMITTEES ON TRANSPORTATION AND AGING

          2  to take a risk.  They are very safety minded, and we

          3  should not take  --  we should not second guess

          4  their desire to be safety minded, and to know how

          5  much time they have left before they can cross the

          6  street.

          7                 I should also inform you, since you

          8  talked about the desire for the Department to begin

          9  some kind of pilot program, that our Committee is

         10  also looking at the various manufacturers of the

         11  count- down signals that exist today, and it will

         12  also be undertaking efforts in the coming weeks on

         13  this front.

         14                 We have questions from Chairperson

         15  Arroyo.

         16                 I'm sorry.  We've also been joined by

         17  Council Members Kendall Stewart, from Brooklyn.

         18  Oliver Koppell, from the Bronx.  And Gale Brewer,

         19  from Manhattan.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO:  Thank you Mr.

         21  Chairman. Commissioner, your statement  --  I'll go

         22  back to the opening of Council Member Liu's comment

         23  about the final sentences of your testimony, and

         24  while it's good to hear that you appreciate that

         25  we're not here trying to aid those who are trying to
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          2  break the traffic laws, I think it's also important

          3  that you understand that we're on the front line,

          4  and get the direct feedback from constituents.

          5  Those who are concerned about being ticketed because

          6  they are too close to the corner, or seniors who

          7  perceive  --  and here is the issue, the perception.

          8    And you use the word "perceived problem" in your

          9  testimony.  They are in danger.  That is their

         10  perception.  And that is what we have to contend

         11  with when we're out there in the field, going to the

         12  senior centers, and having conversations with our

         13  constituencies about the concerns that they have in

         14  the community.

         15                 So I think it's important for the

         16  agencies and the Administration to understand that

         17  when we come at introducing law, it is from that

         18  perspective that we come, in trying to address

         19  concerns and issues that get brought to us from our

         20  constituents. And that's very important.  Because

         21  we're not on opposite sides here.  I think our goal

         22  is the same.  So it's  --  you also need to

         23  appreciate that that's where we're coming from as

         24  well.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Oh no.  I do.
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          2    And I just want to say that you know, the agency

          3  is on the front lines as well.  We get probably tens

          4  of thousands of e- mails through the e mail system

          5  as well as 311 complaints about you know, various

          6  issues facing the City.  As well as you know, DOT is

          7  broken down into a Borough Commissioner system,

          8  which I think, Mr. Chairman, we've talked about it

          9  here at length.  And it's a very effective way of

         10  managing the agency, because those Borough

         11  Commissioners are really the ombudsmen in the

         12  community.  They're going to  --  just like the

         13  Council people  --  they're going to community

         14  association meetings. They're going to events.  And

         15  so they're hearing first hand from all people, all

         16  constituents throughout the City of New York.  As

         17  well as they speak at whatever forums people invite

         18  them to speak at.

         19                 So I do appreciate that, and let me

         20  just say that whatever you're hearing out there,

         21  we're hearing it as well.  By no means is the agency

         22  in this lofty tower.  I think various members will

         23  tell you that they see our representatives at

         24  numerous community events, each and every night

         25  throughout the City of New York.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Now, I have a few

          3  questions related to your testimony.  You testified

          4  that the fatalities, or the  --  I think you used

          5  the word "fatalities" have reduced, been reduced

          6  significantly since 1990.  But we're not talking

          7  about accidents.  Are you keeping a separate count

          8  between the number of individuals that die as a

          9  result of a traffic accident of crossing the street?

         10    Or how many are injured?  Is there a separate

         11  number for that?

         12                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: We keep data

         13  on fatalities as well as accidents.  Although it's

         14  not particularly DOT.  What will happen is a police

         15  report will be issued, and the data is basically

         16  kept by the individual precinct.  What's the number

         17  of the form that they use?  The police precincts?

         18  Oh.  The police precincts will use those forms, and

         19  we extract the data from those reports generated by

         20  the police.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: So can we then

         22  see the number of accidents that have occurred?  And

         23  in the different categories, how many have been

         24  injured  --  because that's important.  I think that

         25  this  --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Absolutely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO:  --  The

          4  introduction of 125 goes to the heart of trying to

          5  prevent accidents.  Whether they result in fatality

          6  or not.

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: That accident

          8  data is really crucial to DOT, because as Mr.

          9  Chairman, we've discussed on numerous occasions, you

         10  know, we use the Warren System, the Federal Warren

         11  System to determine whether an intersection should

         12  get a traffic light.  And what Mike's people look

         13  for is that they're not just looking at fatality

         14  information, they're looking at accident data.  And

         15  what cause of  --  basically, what type of accident

         16  it was.  So whether it was the major street or the

         17  minor street.  So that's all the data that we have.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: I think it's

         19  important  --  if you can make that information

         20  available to both Committees  --

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Sure.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO:  --  I think it

         23  would be helpful.  Because the issue here is

         24  accidents, and then they either die as a result of

         25  it or they don't.  And your testimony only
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          2  references fatalities.  So I'd like to know what the

          3  other number is.

          4                 You gave examples of how the

          5  Department addresses case- by- case scenarios.  How

          6  many initiative have you, or the agency engaged in

          7  that resulted?  I'm assuming that those are just

          8  examples.  Do you have a number of you know, places

          9  where studies have been conducted and modifications

         10  have been made to traffic signals, devices?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: We

         12  have done studies at every location where there's a

         13  request.  I do about 2,100 studies a year for a

         14  variety of purposes like this.  For traffic control

         15  devices, for examinations at senior centers, for

         16  changes to the intersection controls, throughout the

         17  City.  I don't have the exact number related to

         18  senior centers or a senior- related centers, but

         19  there is no location where a request comes in, where

         20  a study is not completed, talking in that timeframe

         21  that we're talking about. And so, it's part of that

         22  much larger number, that 2,100 number that I do

         23  pretty much every year.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Okay.  So you  --

         25    the Commissioner testified that it takes about 90
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          2  days for a study to be conducted.  Yes?

          3                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Okay.  So what

          5  happens after you conduct a study?  What's the

          6  process?  Who gets a report on the findings and what

          7  the ultimate decision is of the Department?

          8                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: It depends

          9  who made the request to us.  If it's an individual

         10  citizen, they will get a letter back telling them

         11  what the outcome of the study is.  If it's a group,

         12  they'll get a detailed letter back as to what the

         13  outcome is.  Whoever made the request gets a

         14  response back.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: I'd like to make

         16  a recommendation that you copy the local City

         17  Council Member so  -- there's a method to my madness

         18    --  so that we don't duplicate efforts and/or call

         19  your office.  If they get a response from the

         20  agency, with your findings, and it results in there

         21  will be no light installed, or Stop sign installed,

         22  or whatever the case may be, and then they reach out

         23  to our office, so that we can then engage you in

         24  asking you to do the same thing, I think it would be

         25  helpful for us to be informed.  Because as much as
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          2  we would like to get our constituents who have

          3  everything they want, we also understand that there

          4  are some limitations about what we can and cannot

          5  do.  And it would be helpful and empowering for us

          6  to understand and know the rationale for the

          7  decision.

          8                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: If I could

          9  make  --  just sort of switch it around a little

         10  bit.  As I mentioned, our Borough Commissioners are

         11  very visible, and they're out there, and they work

         12  with all levels of government, whether it be the

         13  Council, or the Assembly, or the Congress.  We've

         14  worked with individual Council Members.  One that

         15  comes to mind is a Council Member who is no longer

         16  here, Eva Moskowitz, who sent us tons of letters

         17  each week.  You know, what would be helpful, I

         18  think, is I know you get a lot of requests in your

         19  office.  We set up a system with her where

         20  basically, we were able to communicate with her.

         21  She picked up the phone, or her staff person picked

         22  up the phone and called the Borough Commissioner

         23  with a list of intersections.  And we were able to

         24  check, when we did a study, if we ever did a study,

         25  what the outcome was, and we were able to provide
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          2  her with that information.  And you know, we're

          3  happy to do that for any Councilperson who makes

          4  that request.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Well, I'm asking

          6  for the ones that go independent of the Council

          7  Member's Office, a request that may have gone into

          8  your agency that we may not be aware of.  And you

          9  find that there is no action going to be taken.  And

         10  in those instances, that your communications with

         11  the individual, the group, or whomever put in the

         12  request, that we receive a copy of your findings, or

         13  your response to them.  So that we can be informed

         14  and aware.  That's the situation I'm referring to.

         15                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'll have to

         16  go back and check with the staff.  I don't want to

         17  say yes right now.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Okay.  Thank you.

         19                 On the traffic studies, that also

         20  includes the changing, the time for changing  --

         21  light changing.  Do you do studies for that as well?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Yes.

         23  If you're referring to the 2,100 number referred to

         24  changes in the cycle lane, for example, yes.  It

         25  includes all of the requests that I received for
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          2  changes at an intersection.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Okay.  You

          4  referenced the DOT Safety Education Unit.  And that

          5  you work with the Department for the Aging, and HHC.

          6    That you do outreach and educational

          7  presentations.  How may centers?  How many seniors?

          8  Over say, the last year?

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: We  --  I

         10  don't have that number with me, but we can easily

         11  get it for you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Okay.  That would

         13  be useful. Because I think if there are centers that

         14  have not gotten on your radar, we need to make sure

         15  that we get them on your radar, because it's

         16  important for us.  I just learned something today.

         17  I thought the blinking "Don't Walk" means walk

         18  really fast.  And I make  -- I'm trying to make a

         19  point.  Is that I have time to cross, and I should

         20  just do it very, very quickly.  And it's important

         21  that if it's supposed to mean stay where you're at,

         22  and wait for the next light to come, then I think

         23  our seniors need to be aware of that. And if there

         24  are senior centers that have not benefitted from the

         25  presentation from your education unit, that we make
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          2  arrangements for that to happen throughout the City.

          3

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: I

          5  agree that people need to understand what it means.

          6  It's the same thing with the amber signal.  The

          7  amber signal doesn't mean speed up.  Right?  It

          8  means that the signal is changing, and if you're in

          9  the intersection, you can  --  you have enough time

         10  to clear, but if you're approaching the

         11  intersection, you need to stop.

         12                 Now, the fact that motorists may poor

         13  decisions, when the amber comes up, doesn't mean

         14  that I should have a flashing countdown for the

         15  amber as well.

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: The other

         17  thing is, I offer to any Councilperson, I know

         18  Council people have lists of senior centers that are

         19  in their districts.  Please send them over to DOT.

         20  If you want to work through the Borough

         21  Commissioner, or you want to work through David

         22  Wallick, who is our Deputy Commissioner for External

         23  Affairs, we would be happy to send them a letter,

         24  and sort of push our way in, and try and come in for

         25  a presentation, or whatever we can do to assist
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          2  those senior centers.  So I know Council people have

          3  those lists.  If you want to share them with us,

          4  that would be great.  We'd be happy to send the

          5  letter.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: As Chair of the

          7  Committee on Aging, I would like to make that one of

          8  the things that the Committee can help my colleagues

          9  with, because we're busy, and we have a lot to do.

         10  I think it's important that you not push your way

         11  in.  I think it's something that should be arranged,

         12  and should happen.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, what I

         14  mean push my way in, I mean you know be rather

         15  forward in terms of sending them letters and

         16  offering them our service.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Thank you.  Thank

         18  you Mr. Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         20  Chairperson Arroyo.  We have questions from Council

         21  Member Nelson.  And then Garodnick.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you

         23  Chairs Arroyo and Liu.  It's nice to see everybody

         24  from DOT.  I've seen a remarkable positive change in

         25  DOT for some years now, since you've taken the helm,
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          2  and I work with some of your jewels in DOT for about

          3  a dozen years.  Mike, and others.  Sorry we're

          4  losing Laurie, by the way, but good for her.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well she's

          6  going to Lower Manhattan.  But you're getting Joe

          7  Palmeri, who is the second go through in Brooklyn.

          8  He was the Deputy Borough Commissioner, now he's

          9  becoming the full Borough Commissioner.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I look forward

         11  to working with him.

         12                 We have to cross swords with swords

         13  on crosswalks, in a way.  Because we don't know.

         14  That's part of the problem that we have here.  I

         15  know you mentioned a C2- 02 I think it was.  Or 2C02

         16  engineer's judgement.  But sometimes the patient may

         17  be right, and the doctor may be wrong.  Even though

         18   --  we know you're the professionals and the

         19  engineers.  And we're not.  But nobody knows 100

         20  percent if this will or will not save lives.  To be

         21  honest.  As truth could tell, we just try in our

         22  perch here.  More signs could cause less of an

         23  attention span, I imagine.  In Manhattan, I would

         24  say.  Signs in Manhattan are confusing, to say the

         25  least.  There could be a sign, "No Parking 4 to 7",
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          2  but if you're here on a Tuesday between 5 and 5:30,

          3  you know, you have to spend time reading them.

          4                 In the other boroughs, I don't know

          5  if that's the case as much.  There aren't copious

          6  signs, perhaps, as there are in Manhattan, although

          7  I'm sure that could be argued as well.  Some signs,

          8  I'm sure, if there are too many, could confuse or

          9  initiate an ignore mode in some people's minds, I

         10  would agree with that. But overall, I believe that

         11   --  and many people who will testify today believe

         12  that this is something that can be done.  I know

         13  I've received a favorable response in my district,

         14  in senior centers, and a lot of petitions we

         15  received as well.  And clearly we have a problem we

         16  need to respond to.  Someway to deal with the sort

         17  of an imbalance of seniors getting killed in

         18  highways or on streets, rather.  Streets rather.

         19  More often than the rest of the population as well.

         20                 Let's see if there's a question here,

         21  actually. Would you believe  --  I don't mean this

         22   --

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I was

         24  wondering if there was a question there.  It was  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: It sort is a
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          2  roundabout way of getting to a question  --

          3                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes, it was.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  --  And I

          5  don't mean in the pejorative at all.

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: No, it's

          7  okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: But do you

          9  believe the costs associated with this signage is

         10  not cost effective?  Not that we would put money

         11  ahead of saving citizenry, but simply because the

         12  signage will not work.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: You know, I'm

         14  not going to sit here and say that the signage won't

         15  work.  You know, there is something called the

         16  Federal Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices

         17   --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Sure.

         19                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: It is a

         20  manual that every city and state in this country

         21  uses.  And the reason that they use it, is because

         22  it is a manual that's been developed by traffic

         23  engineers over the years.  And you know, it has

         24  sections dealing with large cities.  It's got

         25  sections dealing with small cities. It's got
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          2  sections dealing with farm communities.  You know,

          3  it's very specific, and the section that I quoted to

          4  you is that the use of warning signs shall be based

          5  on an engineering study, or an engineering

          6  judgement.

          7                 So what I'm saying is that maybe

          8  additional signage at a particular intersection is

          9  needed.  But what we're saying is, give us the

         10  opportunity to study the intersection.  Maybe it's

         11  not the additional signage.  Maybe it's a speed

         12  bump.  Maybe it's the timing of the traffic light.

         13  Maybe it's the geometry of the road that my staff

         14  has to look at.  There can be numerous things that

         15  we can do to make an intersection safe.  It's not

         16  just slapping up a traffic sign.  That's not an end-

         17  all and a be- all.  And what we're saying is, let us

         18  go into our bag of you know, remedies, of tools, and

         19  let us look at these intersections, and come up with

         20  possible solutions.

         21                 Look, at the end of the day, maybe

         22  there's nothing we can do.  But just to put a sign

         23  up, reducing speed, it's not the end- all and be-

         24  all.  And that's why there is a manual for that very

         25  reason.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I remember

          3  that manual well. We've been referring to it, you

          4  know, two jobs ago that I had.  And the frustrations

          5    --  I mean, we knew there needed to be a light

          6  here, but it did not fit some prescription of that

          7  particular federal mandate, which I'm sure works

          8  most of the time, but not all times as well.  But

          9  anyway, Mr. Chair, I thank you for the time. I thank

         10  you for the hearing.  Thank you Commissioner.

         11                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I will point

         12  out one thing, which I find sort of interesting.

         13  You know, we take requests from anybody who will

         14  contact us about doing studies.  And you know, as

         15  Mike will tell you, some of the time it results in a

         16  traffic light being put up, or a Stop sign being put

         17  up, or whatever.  I was in your part of Brooklyn a

         18  couple of weekends ago, Councilman, and some senior

         19  citizen came over to me, and she said, "Why are all

         20  these traffic lights all of a sudden going up all

         21  throughout Brooklyn?".  So you know, what's good for

         22  some people, other people just don't want it.  So

         23  you can see the challenge that we have, the DOT,

         24  each and every day.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  Thank
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          2  you Council Member Nelson.  Questions from Council

          3  Member Garodnick.  And then Lappin.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you

          5  Mr. Chairman. Commissioner, welcome back.  I know I

          6  only have a couple of minutes here, so I just want

          7  to get a few questions in.

          8                 First, I was listening to your

          9  testimony, and also your answers to the question

         10  about this federal manual.  Do we base all of our

         11  signage decisions on this federal manual?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Do we ever

         14  deviate from the federal manual?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: The

         16  manual allows us to use engineering judgement.  And

         17  so, when engineering judgement requires us to come

         18  up with a different solution, or something that the

         19  manual recommends, but I guess what we're saying is

         20  that engineering judgement is really what is

         21  required.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I

         23  understand.  That wouldn't be a situation in which

         24  you're deviating from the manual, that's a situation

         25  in which you're actually following the manual by
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          2  saying, look, you ought to take engineering

          3  judgement with regard to each specific situation and

          4   --

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA:

          6  Correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.  But

          8  are there across the board mandates from the federal

          9  manual  --

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: There

         11  are  --  in the manual, it uses three verbs.  It

         12  either uses a must.  And where it uses must, we may

         13  not deviate.  It says may.  When it uses the verb

         14  may, we can be guided by the guidance in the manual,

         15  but we can come to a different solution.  And it

         16  says should.  And so it uses those three verbs and

         17  we follow them as they are intended.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And this is

         19  a situation where your view is that you should only

         20  add signage where  --  I think the quote from the

         21  testimony  --  where a real condition exists.  And

         22  I'm looking at the statistics on the total number of

         23  fatalities among seniors relative to population, and

         24  I'm also wondering as I sit here, whether we have

         25  specific information about the fatalities or
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          2  accidents immediately around the senior centers. I

          3  think that was  --  I'm not sure if that was Council

          4  Member Arroyo's question.  I think she was  --  I

          5  stepped out for one second, but I think she was

          6  asking about your overall statistics on accidents,

          7  as opposed to fatalities.  Do we have statistics on

          8  accidents or fatalities immediately surrounding

          9  NORCs or senior centers?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: We

         11  have accident statistics and fatality statistics at

         12  intersections.  And so, at a particular location,

         13  senior centers located at intersection X, we can get

         14  accident data and fatality data for the specific

         15  intersection, or intersections, associated with that

         16  particular center.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.  So

         18  you have the information on the intersection, but

         19  you haven't really crossed tabbed that to where the

         20  senior centers or NORCs are.  Is that correct?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Unless

         22  there's a request to look at a particular senior

         23  center that's located at X location, we would not

         24  normally have a reason to look at that particular

         25  location.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.  Well

          3  let me make the formal request.  I'd like you to

          4  investigate  --  and I think this is really the

          5  purpose of today's hearing  --  we'd like you to

          6  investigate whether or not there is a real

          7  condition, as defined by the federal manual, and

          8  defined by Commissioner Weinshall's testimony, in

          9  and around the NORCs and senior centers that exist

         10  in New York City.  Because in those circumstances,

         11  we would actually be permitted under the federal

         12  manual, in fact it would even be beneficial to

         13  actually put additional signage there.  So I'm going

         14  to make that formal request to you.

         15                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  I think we

         16  have to go back and reassess our resources, you

         17  know, within the list of stuff that you know, we

         18  have to do in the agency.  Clearly, this would be a

         19  new need for us.  But let us go back and sort of

         20  reassess whether we have the resources to be able to

         21  do this.  It would be a rather extensive, cumbersome

         22  process that we would have to go through.

         23                 I will tell you though, on the

         24  accident and the fatalities, from what we're able to

         25  get from the police reports, we can pretty much,
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          2  Mike can pretty much dissect what the cause of the

          3  accident was.  And let me tell the Committee that on

          4  every fatality, we do go back and reassess each and

          5  every fatality, to figure out what happened, why it

          6  happened, and to sort of make sure that it doesn't

          7  happen again at that intersection.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I

          9  appreciate that, obviously, and recognize that there

         10  is a piece of legislation that's being proposed here

         11  that the DOT does not like, because there is a

         12  feeling of inconsistency with the federal manual and

         13  the procedures of DOT, with regard to setting out

         14  uniform rules across the board, which may actually

         15  not help.  And that's the reason why, considering

         16  that there appears to be an issue here.  I mean, I

         17  can speak for myself, and suggest anecdotally, there

         18  was a senior citizen in my district a week ago

         19  Friday, 83- year old woman, who was killed crossing

         20  20th Street and First Avenue for a light that

         21  actually does not give her the opportunity to cross

         22  fast enough.

         23                 So there is an issue here.  And it

         24  would be beneficial for us to actually know the

         25  information on NORCs and senior centers.
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          2                 So let me add one last question on

          3  the other piece of legislation.  The curb cuts.  I

          4  guess this is 217.  Again, the federal manual

          5  doesn't recommend demarkation at what you described,

          6  uncontrolled intersections, because it sends a mixed

          7  message, I believe was your testimony.  Is that

          8  right?

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: What occurs

         11  to me is that curb cuts without demarkation may send

         12  a mixed message as well, to pedestrians, as to

         13  whether or not it is safe for somebody to cross at

         14  that area without the demarkation altogether.  Can

         15  you just comment on that?

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'm not sure

         17  I understand your question.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Your

         19  testimony was, that if you put a painted cross, a

         20  crossing line, or a demarkation across the street,

         21  connecting one curb cut to another, that may create

         22  a mixed message for a pedestrian, because they may

         23  think it's safe to cross where there is  --

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: There's no

         25  traffic light there.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: What I

          3  wanted to ask you was, is it possible that a curb

          4  cut without any control, or without any demarkation

          5  may similarly send a mixed message to a pedestrian,

          6  also create an unsafe condition?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA:

          8  Council Member, we don't believe so.  Because what

          9  we believe is that pedestrians would exercise better

         10  caution at a location at an unmarked intersection.

         11                 Also, let me  --  let's think about

         12  the number of locations.  For every marked

         13  crosswalk, for every location that is controlled,

         14  there are probably four or five locations that are

         15  uncontrolled.  The intersection  --  as I mentioned,

         16  we have 12,000 signals.  Signalized intersections in

         17  New York.  There are in excess of 50,000

         18  intersections in New York City.  There are about

         19  3,500 of those intersections that are controlled

         20  with a multi- way stop control.  Most of the other

         21  controls at the intersections are the minor a Stop,

         22  and the major is not.  And so, at every major, where

         23  only the minor is stopped, there is no control

         24  across the major.

         25                 And so, your  --  what the crosswalk,
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          2  as we use them, signifies to the pedestrian, is that

          3  at these locations, we have taken some  --  there

          4  are some other safety measures in place. That may be

          5  a better place for you to attempt a crossing than a

          6  different place.  It's not to suggest that if you

          7  exercise due care, that a pedestrian can't safely

          8  negotiate the crossing.  But it requires pedestrians

          9  to exercise due care.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.

         11  Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  The

         13  Committee will underscore Council Member Garodnick's

         14  request that the Department of Transportation take a

         15  look at the accident data, whether they be

         16  fatalities or otherwise, at the intersections at the

         17  vicinity of senior centers.  We don't think that

         18  that's a tremendous task.  As you have stated, the

         19  data is already there for the intersections. The

         20  accident data.  And I think you can simply check

         21  with the Department for the Aging to get the

         22  location of the senior centers, as well as the

         23  naturally occurring retirement communities.  It

         24  doesn't seem to be that monumental a task.

         25                 Council Member Lappin.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you Mr.

          3  Chairman.

          4                 Commissioner, you mentioned safe

          5  routes to schools when you were testifying earlier.

          6  Is there now a uniform traffic safety policy for all

          7  of our schools?  Or has each school been

          8  individually studied?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Each

         10  school has a safe route to school, that looks at the

         11  particular conditions associated with that school.

         12  They include very similar elements. But not every

         13  school includes the same elements.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: So that's

         15  consistent with your testimony that in order to look

         16  at each of the senior centers, you might come up

         17  with a general plan, but you would have to look at

         18  each individual center or NORC to decide what was

         19  appropriate.

         20                 I know that Transportation

         21  Alternatives is working with the State Department of

         22  Health in doing a study on number of traffic

         23  studies, I think north of 110th Street, and that DOT

         24  has agreed to implement some of the changes that

         25  were suggested.  And Transportation Alternatives is
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          2  now going to look potentially at 15 other routes.

          3  Was that incorrect?  I'm seeing you look puzzled.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: We

          5  have, in the past, taken reports by Transportation

          6  Alternatives, and other groups. And if they are  --

          7  and if recommendations are supported by facts, we

          8  have implemented recommendations.  There are many

          9  recommendations however, we get from that group and

         10  others, that are not supported by facts.  And that

         11  either require us to do much more rigorous analysis.

         12    And in the event  --  in the case that rigorous

         13  analysis is necessary, we undertake that  Again,

         14  that is a resource issue.  And so again, we look at

         15  that group, other consulting groups, and implement

         16  recommendations that are supported by the

         17  conditions.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Does it matter

         19  that they are being funded by a State agency?  Does

         20  that  --

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: It has no  --

         22    We don't care who they're funded by.  It matters

         23  what they're recommending, engineering- wise makes

         24  sense, and under what basis are they studying it.

         25  That's our concern.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: And if they

          3  did their  --  I know they have a proposal to do 15

          4  more streets, which are further south, major cross-

          5  town routes.  It would be similar.  You would take a

          6  look at whatever data they provide you and determine

          7  whether or not it was helpful.  Okay.  Thank you Mr.

          8  Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         10    Questions from Council Member Gentile.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you Mr.

         12  Chairman.

         13                 Commissioner, you know, we do our

         14  best.  We don't always agree with what DOT does, but

         15  I think, out of respect for you, and out of respect

         16  for your position, we try very hard, all of us on

         17  this Council, try very, very hard to have a working

         18  relationship with you, and with members of DOT.  In

         19  fact, I've worked many, many years with Mike

         20  Primeggia, over many, many issues, both on Staten

         21  Island and in Brooklyn.  We didn't always agree, and

         22  we've had some real battles, but we've done it in a

         23  professional manner, in the manner where we have a

         24  working relationship.

         25                 So Commissioner, this is at least the
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          2  second occasion in which you've come into the

          3  Council and made outrageous statements, derogatory,

          4  insulting statements to the Members of this Council,

          5  as to our motivation for putting legislation

          6  together.  I think both Chairman Arroyo and Chairman

          7  Liu have discussed this with you, but it appears to

          8  me that I can't see any other interpretation of the

          9  words that you said that we might be trying to

         10  assist illegal parkers, that we shouldn't be making

         11  these decisions, that safety is on a higher level

         12  and we have no role in playing the role of deciding

         13  what might be safe for our constituents in the City

         14  of New York.  I truly, truly, am saddened and

         15  troubled by your remarks here, at the end,

         16  particularly in regard to 217.  Once again, as we

         17  were in the last situation, when you said that we

         18  were endangering New Yorkers, by eliminating Sunday

         19  parking meters.  I truly believe that you owe this

         20  Council an apology and truly we want to work with

         21  you.  But you cannot make accusations like you've

         22  made in your statement.

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Mr. Chairman,

         24  in now way was I attempting to be insulting or

         25  derogatory.  I'm sorry that Councilman Gentile or
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          2  yourself, or any other Council Members perceived

          3  that in that way.  And I think, Councilman, we

          4  should just talk about the specifics of the bill.  I

          5  don't want to get into an argument with you.  I

          6  would like to come here and talk about the specifics

          7  of both bills.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And we were

          9  all prepared to do that, Commissioner.  And then you

         10  ended up  --

         11                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Why are you

         12  continually harping on this?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Because you

         14  ended up your statement.  You chose to make your

         15  statement  --

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Councilman,

         17  do you want to talk about these two bills?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Commissioner.

         19    Please, Commissioner.  You've made accusations

         20  that A, we shouldn't be involved in this, and B,

         21  particularly in regard to 217, that you find it

         22  troubling that someone would want to assist illegal

         23  parkers, at the expense of compromising safety.  You

         24  said that.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I didn't say
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          2  that you shouldn't be involved in this.  I think my

          3  testimony talked about not substituting professional

          4  judge  --  what did I say here?  Let me find exactly

          5  what I said.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think we all have

          7  in front of us what you've stated at the end of your

          8  testimony, Commissioner.  We appreciate that the

          9  testimony is lengthy and some level of detail. As to

         10  the substance of the bills.  If you would let me

         11  finish that would be helpful.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: So why don't

         13  we talk about the specifics of both bills, and not

         14  get into an argument.  It is a waste of time.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It is not a waste of

         16  time.  It is simply getting the point across,

         17  because this is not the first time this has

         18  happened, as Council Member Gentile has stated.

         19  That when you come into these chambers and testify,

         20  and then at the end, very clearly, this is not

         21  subject to interpretation here.  Any reasonable

         22  person reading this testimony will conclude that it

         23  is your opinion that someone who is proposing this

         24  legislation is seeking to assist illegal parkers at

         25  the expense of compromising safety.  There is no
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          2  interpretation for that.  That's very, very clear

          3  what that statement is meant to do.  To insinuate

          4  that Council Members have a motive other than

          5  promoting the good and welfare of our own

          6  constituents.

          7                 So after such, in my opinion, good,

          8  solid, informative testimony, to completely

          9  adulterate that testimony with the final statements

         10  in your prepared testimony, it seems troubling, and

         11  it seems completely unnecessary.  So hopefully, this

         12  will be the last hearing where we'll have this kind

         13  of exchange between yourself, Commissioner, and your

         14  Deputy Commissioners, and Members of this Committee

         15  and the City Council.

         16                 Continue with your questions, Council

         17  Member Gentile.  I think we've made the point.  Go

         18  ahead with the substantive questions.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you

         20  Councilman Liu. Let me just say, I challenge you to

         21  stay, Commissioner.  I challenge you to stay and

         22  listen to the New Yorkers who are going to testify

         23  and tell you the situations that they've come upon.

         24  And tell you that they're not looking to be assisted

         25  in parking illegally.  I challenge you Commissioner,

                                                            73

          1  COMMITTEES ON TRANSPORTATION AND AGING

          2  to stay and listen to the New Yorkers that are going

          3  to testify after you're done.

          4                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well

          5  Councilman, I guess as you can well appreciate,

          6  Commissioners, like Council people have very busy

          7  schedules.  As a matter of fact, I'm already 10

          8  minutes late for my next appointment.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: That's why

         10  I'm challenging you to stay.  That's why I'm

         11  challenging you to stay.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank you.

         13  Thank you for the invitation.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Let's talk

         15  about the substance here.  You seem to rely totally,

         16  100 percent on this MUTCD, the  MUTCD.  Which is

         17  some kind of over- arching engineering manual that,

         18  without the blessings of that manual, and the

         19  guidelines of that manual, nothing happens at DOT.

         20  And this is a federal manual.  I mean, this is the

         21   --  we're regarding  -- we're listening to  --

         22  we're going by a federal manual put together by a

         23  federal government that told Louisiana that they

         24  were going to keep those people safe.  In Katrina.

         25  You know how well that worked.  So I'm just beside
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          2  myself that we're using a federal manual to decide

          3  safety decisions in the City of New York.

          4                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Mr. Gentile,

          5  if we were not to use this manual, would you please

          6  explain to me what standard we should use?  Because

          7  I'm sort of at a loss.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Instead of

          9  MUTCD, let me give you another one.  It's two words,

         10  I'll spell it.  COMMON SENSE.

         11                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: And then it's

         12  whoever  -- is it your common sense, or is it Mike's

         13  common sense, or my common sense?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: It's a

         15  collective common sense of the citizens of the City

         16  of New York as to what is best. And you're the

         17  Commissioner, so you make the final decision.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Council Member.  We

         19  also  --  the Committee has long recognized that the

         20  MUTCD is in place, and that it is desirable for our

         21  City to conform with that federal policy.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Well let me

         23  ask you this then.  Does the MUTCD consider

         24  particular demographics in New York City?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: It's a
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          2  guideline that considers demographics throughout the

          3  country.  It has sections dealing with urban

          4  situations, as well as sections dealing with less

          5  urban situations.  Clearly, in New York City, we are

          6  guided by the guidance and the sections that deal

          7  with urban situations.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And does an

          9  urban situation, any other urban situation compare

         10  to the urban situation in a city of 8 million?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Sure.

         12  There are lots of conditions that are unique to New

         13  York, but there are so many cities that have similar

         14  characteristics to New York.  Not every neighborhood

         15  in New York has the same characteristics.  And

         16  clearly, we use judgement in applying the guidance

         17  that the manual contains.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Now, this

         19  manual that says that it does not recommend the

         20  demarkation of crosswalks at uncontrolled

         21  intersections.  Does that consider the topography of

         22  New York City?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA:

         24  Absolutely.  It considers  --  what it tells the

         25  engineers that use it, is to consider a whole host
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          2  of factors.  But it would specifically says, in

          3  terms of what the Commissioner mentioned in terms of

          4  this issue, is that it specifically says that

          5  caution should be used in applying markings to

          6  uncontrolled locations.  And it says that if you

          7  decide to put markings at uncontrolled locations,

          8  extraordinary steps should be taken to ensure that

          9  the markings  --  in addition to the markings,

         10  extraordinary steps should be taken to ensure safety

         11  at that particular locations.  That extraordinary

         12  step is taken at school crosswalks at uncontrolled

         13  locations, where we   -- in every lane approaching

         14  the crossing, put in a school crossing message.  At

         15  every crossing, at that uncontrolled school

         16  location, we have advanced warning signs, and

         17  regular warning signs.  The manual in fact,

         18  describes a specific color reserved only for the use

         19  of those types of  --  at those types of conditions.

         20    A sign that can only  --  the color of which could

         21  only be used for that type of situation.  And so, it

         22  looked at extraordinary measures that was required

         23  in order to ensure the safety of that crossing.    To

         24  suggest that every crossing should be turned into

         25  that, is, in our opinion, in our engineering
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          2  opinion, not good policy, nor is it good

          3  engineering, nor does it make a lot of sense to the

          4  engineers.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So again, we

          6  go back to the engineers, and engineer studies.

          7  You're saying that to paint lines in the street, you

          8  have to do an engineering study at every

          9  intersection.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: No.

         11  What we're saying is that the policy of not

         12  providing crosswalk markings at uncontrolled

         13  locations is supported dramatically by the guidance

         14  in the manual.  And that if you were to do what this

         15  law suggests, extraordinary measures would need to

         16  be taken, aside from the painting of the crosswalk

         17  markings.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And should

         19  there be a pedestrian/car accident at any given

         20  location, where there is an unmarked pedestrian

         21  crosswalk, does that throw the extraordinary

         22  measures out the window?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: No,

         24  absolutely not. In fact, most accidents, most

         25  pedestrian/vehicle accidents happened at marked
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          2  crosswalks.  Because that's where most of the

          3  pedestrian crossing occur.  In fact, most of those

          4  accidents occurred at controlled locations, because

          5  that's where the bulk of the pedestrians and

          6  vehicles come in conflict with each other.

          7                 It is not true that at every unmarked

          8  crosswalk, or at most unmarked crosswalks, there are

          9  conflicts that are created.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Does your

         11  engineering study or this federal guideline take

         12  into account "T" intersections within the City of

         13  New York?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Sure

         15  it does.  Again, engineers take into account a

         16  series of locations.  And particularly at "T"

         17  intersections.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Particularly

         19  at "T" intersections.  So you're saying that if

         20  there's a "T" intersection, and there's a curb cut

         21  at a "T" intersection, it should not be marked.  And

         22  the fact is, that motorists who park on a "T"

         23  intersection are likely not to see a curb cut, and

         24  then subject to $165 fine.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: I

                                                            79

          1  COMMITTEES ON TRANSPORTATION AND AGING

          2  believe that motorists who park vehicles, who drive

          3  vehicles in New York, who park vehicles in New York

          4  need to be cognizant of what they're doing.  I

          5  believe that motorists that park in New York City

          6  are very rarely surprised by the condition that may

          7  occur.  There are 12 million parking violations,

          8  round numbers, probably a little bit less now,

          9  probably eight or nine million parking violations

         10  that occur every year in New York City.  I can't

         11  believe it's because motorists are unfamiliar with

         12  what the rules are, or what the conditions are.  I

         13  can't believe that eight million mistakes get made

         14  in New York City every year.

         15                 And so, I do not believe that because

         16  there is a somewhat unusual condition, that a

         17  motorist should be exonerated from their behavior.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Well, I know,

         19  I think  -- I ask Mr. Primeggia, if you'd stay,

         20  you'd hear why.  You'd hear. And maybe the federal

         21  MUTCD calls for you know, sight lines on the rear of

         22  somebody's vehicle, that's parking on the left side

         23  of a road. Where they can't see a curb cut.  I mean,

         24  that's probably one of the ways you could see that

         25  there's an unmarked curb cut there on a --
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          2  particularly on a "T" intersection.

          3                 Let me ask the Commissioner, what are

          4  the criteria now for creating a curb cut in the

          5  middle of a block?

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well

          7  actually, Mr. Gentile, we had an old definition, and

          8  as a result of a number of I guess public

          9  complaints, and some confusion, we have changed the

         10  rules. And a decision was made during the process,

         11  that since the original installation at mid- block

         12  crossings were legal, and because our emphasis on

         13  resources are, and should be on installing curb

         14  ramps at locations throughout the City, where we

         15  were required by law, and the stipulated settlement

         16  with the EPVA, we decided that in commercial areas,

         17  such mid- block crossings would be identified by

         18  signage, to highlight their presence to motorists

         19  who may otherwise unknowingly, or unwittingly park

         20  in front of such ramps.  And we are currently not

         21  any longer installing these ramps.  Leon, maybe you

         22  want to talk about it.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HEYWARD: Right.

         24  If I could go into a little bit more detail, when

         25  the City entered into the settlement with the
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          2  Eastern Paralyzed Veterans Administration, one of

          3  the things  --  one of the directions that we were

          4  given, was that when we go out to install the

          5  pedestrian ramps that we need to install, so that we

          6  could be in compliance, we needed to provide a

          7  pedestrian ramp at every able- bodied crossing.  At

          8  a crossing where any able- bodied person would make.

          9

         10                 Now, in doing that, we came into a

         11  situation where we were going to be installing

         12  pedestrian ramps where there were no crosswalks.

         13  But it was still a crosswalk.  Able- bodied people

         14  were able to walk, and so we were directed that we

         15  needed to provide a crosswalk.

         16                 So back in 2002, when the stipulation

         17  was decided, when the stipulation was signed, we

         18  began to go out to install ped ramps and we went

         19  from Community Board to Community Board to do that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Ped ramps are

         21  the curb cuts?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HEYWARD: Are the

         23  curb cuts. Pedestrian ramps.  And the reason we say

         24  pedestrian ramps is because you have curb cuts that

         25  are also driveways.  And this does not include the
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          2  driveways.  It's totally different issue for us.

          3                 So we began our process to install

          4  pedestrian ramps at all crossings.  Where any able-

          5  bodied person would cross, that's where we began to

          6  install them.  And the "T" intersection is one that

          7  we came across of in every Community Board that we

          8  entered upon.  Back in, I would say, 2004, we began

          9  to get complaints about vehicles not parking there,

         10  but not seeing the curb cuts.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Exactly my

         12  point.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HEYWARD: Right.

         14  Those were the complaints.  And we were even told

         15  that from people that lived there, that we never saw

         16  it go in, when there is an extensive process for

         17  installing a ped ramp, but we never saw it went in,

         18  and then someone parked in front of it.  So the

         19  issue became parking, as opposed to crossing.  Using

         20  it as a cross.  As a result of those conversations,

         21  I believe that the Eastern Paralyzed Veterans

         22  Administration did begin to get involved in the

         23  discussion, and the discussion became, well, maybe

         24  you should have crosswalks at these pedestrian

         25  ramps, and that would make it easier for people to
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          2  cross across.

          3                 Our concern was that that was in

          4  conflict with our federal guidelines.  So as we said

          5  before, we went back.  We promulgated a new rule, so

          6  that we will no longer install ped ramps at "T"

          7  intersections, where there is no traffic control

          8  device.

          9                 So as a result of that, beginning

         10  last year, and the beginning of 2005, when we began

         11  our construction season, we no longer installed

         12  these ped ramps at "T" intersections, where there is

         13  no traffic control device.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: What about

         15  those that are already installed?

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, I knew

         17  that would be your next question.  As I mentioned,

         18  we entered into  --  the entered into a consent

         19  degree with the EPVA, and you know, we are on a

         20  tight timeframe in terms of installing ped ramps.

         21  Not these ped ramps anymore, but ped ramps around

         22  the City of New York.  So basically, with the

         23  limited resources that we had for installing these

         24  ped ramps, it was decided that we didn't have the

         25  resources to take them our.  So we sort of stepped
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          2  back, and sort of thought about, well, how do we

          3  sort of deal with this issue?  And as I mentioned,

          4  where they are in what we define as commercial

          5  areas, because that's an area where people are

          6  coming, maybe for the first time, the only time.

          7  It's not a residential area where you live, you sort

          8  of know about it.  In commercial areas, Mike's

          9  people have put up signage to alert people  --

         10  what?  Or will, will continue to put up signage to

         11  alert people.  In residential areas, we basically

         12  have not put up the signage, because we feel that

         13  those folks who live there know about the ped ramp,

         14  and they pretty much know what to do in that area.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: We'll hear in

         16  a moment about whether that's true or so.

         17                 So it's commercial strips like in

         18  Bensonhurst, 86th Street in Bensonhurst, you plan to

         19  install those signs?

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Under the el?

         22

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.

         24  Commercial areas.  Not you know, purely residential

         25  streets, but commercial areas.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Mr. Chairman,

          3  I know the time is late, and we have many people

          4  still to ask, and witnesses here.  Let me just end

          5  here by just saying that despite the fact that DOT

          6  seems to recognize the problems, both from a safety

          7  standpoint and from an entrapment standpoint of

          8  motorists unwittingly and unknowingly seeing these

          9  ramps.  It still remains an issue, a safety issue

         10  here.  And I believe that this issue needs to be

         11  incorporated in the job that DOT is doing.  They've

         12  seemed to not address it fully and I think that's

         13  where we stand at this point.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         15  Member Gentile. Council Member Brewer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         17  much. Margaret Forgioni (phonetic) is wonderful.

         18  That's my first statement.

         19                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank you

         20  Councilwoman.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The second is

         22  that  --  I mean, I do have concerns about 125 also,

         23  in the West Side, we are all seniors, we may not be

         24  NORC, because we don't fit into the income

         25  guidelines, that doesn't mean that they aren't
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          2  seniors.  So I think it would be hard to implement

          3  an entire community being sort of a NORC.

          4                 But my question is, for instance, on

          5  Columbus and 86th Street, where that  --  an actor,

          6  who also happened to be a senior, was killed

          7  recently, how does the analysis take place?  Is that

          8  something that would automatically take place once

          9  there has been an accident like that?  A fatality?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Well,

         11  Columbus and 86th is a signalized location.  It has

         12  long been signalized.  And at every fatal location,

         13  at every location when a fatal accident occurs, the

         14  Department reviews the conditions at the location,

         15  to ensure that nothing untoward happened at that

         16  particular location. The signal was working

         17  correctly, the markings were in good repair, the

         18  citizen crossed as prescribed by the device, et

         19  cetera.  And so as we do at every fatal location, we

         20  visit the location, we make determination if all of

         21  the devices that currently exist, were there and in

         22  good repair, and that's our first level of look.

         23  Our second level of look is, is there anything more

         24  that needs to be done at that particular location?

         25  Are there any trends, not just the one accident
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          2  being looked at, but are there any accident trends

          3  that suggest that conditions have markably changed.

          4  Those are the type of evaluation that we do at these

          5  fatal accident locations.

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: If I can just

          7  point out that every fatal accident that happens,

          8  there is, as Mike said, an extensive investigation

          9  by DOT after the accident happens.  Just as Mike

         10  said, we are checking all different facets of the

         11  intersection, if there's a light there, was it

         12  working correctly? Was it a weather condition?  And

         13  we also then try and retrace the steps of the

         14  individual in terms of what their path was, and what

         15  happened on that particular day, at that particular

         16  incident.

         17                 So we're very extensive in terms of

         18  those incidents.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know time is

         20  of the essence.  I want to just say quickly, I think

         21  that one of the  -- there's certainly a concern in

         22  general, I don't know whether these are the right

         23  approaches.  But in my neighborhood, on the West

         24  Side, obviously, we have curb cuts.  But I

         25  understand that you could only really get a new curb
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          2  cut if in fact, there's a new street, or sidewalk,

          3  or construction going in.  I don't want to belabor

          4  the point, but that's one of the issues that comes

          5  up. Mostly, I'm talking about people in wheelchairs

          6  in addition to seniors constantly asking me, when

          7  they're trying to get around the City, and ditto

          8  with the paint.  Understandably paint is an issue,

          9  manpower, staffing, time, et cetera, but not every

         10  crosswalk, not to mention the ones that are

         11  mentioned here, as a request, in addition, has

         12  adequate, clear paint.

         13                 And then of course, the question  --

         14  not that -- I'm not going to bring it up now, but

         15  the whole issue of what is the timing of the lights?

         16    And is it enough?  And of course, not to get in

         17  trouble with the Chair, but the audible issues, to

         18  another hearing.

         19                 But these are concerns.  In other

         20  words, what exists now, has challenges, is what I'm

         21  trying to say.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HEYWARD: Right.

         23  I think the good part is that the crosswalks are at

         24  least on a schedule.  Where every few years, the

         25  contractors go back to every location to refurbish
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          2  the crosswalks.  So in terms of the crosswalks, they

          3  is a schedule that they are adhered to.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BREWER: 86th and

          5  Broadway is too expensive to do.  It's very steep.

          6  I'm just saying, yes, in theory, but in practice,

          7  there are issues.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HEYWARD: I'm just

          9  talking about the markings, okay?  The markings.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HEYWARD: At every

         12  crosswalk, there is a schedule.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I got it.

         14  Okay.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HEYWARD: So

         16  that's the good news.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: What's the bad

         18  news?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HEYWARD: The bad

         20  news is in terms of the pedestrian ramps.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HEYWARD: As the

         23  Commissioner already said, we have a stipulation

         24  where we are still trying to put in another 48,000

         25  pedestrian ramps throughout the City, within the
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          2  next five to six years.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  So

          4  that's --

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HEYWARD: That's

          6  the ticking clock for us.  Our focus, and our

          7  resources have been at trying to do that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I got it.

          9  Okay.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HEYWARD:

         11  Unfortunately, the ramps that are out there that are

         12  in disrepair, we're unable to address at the level

         13  that everyone would like.  When we do have

         14  situations that we can deal with on a temporary

         15  basis, we do go, we patch them, sometimes if there

         16  is an emergency situation, we have actually gone

         17  back and reconstructed the entire --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I understand

         19  that.  I don't want to take time, I just say that

         20  there is definitely a need for senior- friendly

         21  pedestrian opportunities to be discussed.  Thank

         22  you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  Thank

         24  you Council Member Brewer.  And we have questions

         25  from Council Member Stewart. Immediately after his
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          2  question, we will ask Bob Capano and Alene

          3  Hokenstand to come to testify.  Council Member

          4  Stewart.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you Mr.

          6  Chair.

          7                 Commissioner, I just want to change

          8  the tone a little bit.

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank you

         10  Councilman.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: When you have

         12  four- way signs, have you ever compared the four-

         13  way signs with a stop light? And see which one is

         14  much more effective?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: The

         16  multi- way control, the four- way stop sign that you

         17  referred to, is put up in situations where volumes

         18  are fairly low, relatively low.  And they're about

         19  equal on the two approaches.  And they're also put

         20  up at locations where accident history suggests that

         21  the device would be useful in preventing collisions.

         22

         23                 Traffic signals are put up primarily

         24  to assign rights of way.  And so the traffic signal

         25  warrants are more geared towards assigning the
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          2  appropriate right of way to the major or the minor

          3  street.  And so two common conditions are the volume

          4  on the major is so high that the vehicles on the

          5  minor street that intersects with the major, don't

          6  have a sufficient opportunity to come into the flow

          7  of traffic.  And so you need a traffic signal to

          8  assign the right of way.

          9                 And so, a traffic signals are better

         10  suited to assigning right of way.  Multi- way stop

         11  controls, the four- way stops that you mentioned,

         12  are better suited on relatively lower volume street,

         13  where the both streets have relatively equal

         14  volumes, and where accident experience suggests that

         15  the intersection would benefit from that device.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: My next

         17  question, basically. At a stop light  --

         18                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Stop sign or

         19  stop  -- traffic light?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Stop light.

         21  There seems to be just before the crosswalk, there

         22  is another line.  Could you explain to me what is

         23  that line is all about?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Our

         25  new standard, which has evolved over the years, is
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          2  that in advance of every crosswalk, we are now

          3  putting in a stop bar.  And so when the signal is

          4  red, or when approaching a stop sign location, that

          5  indicates the location where the motorists should

          6  stop to avoid stopping in the crosswalk, and

          7  encroaching on the pedestrian space. And so, the

          8  stop bar exists, it's set back approximately five

          9  feet in front of the crosswalk, to provide a

         10  demarkation for motorists to stop at that location

         11  as opposed to stopping in the crosswalk.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So it doesn't

         13  have anything to do with parking?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: No.

         15  In fact, you can park in the space between the stop

         16  bar and the crosswalk.  The parking is prohibited in

         17  the crosswalk.  But the other line, the stop bar,

         18  doesn't restrict parking.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: When did the

         20  policy change as far as the putting up of the signs

         21  for co- naming?  I remember years ago, we put up

         22  signs as to every street corner for the length of

         23  the co- naming.  Today, it seems to be put up just

         24  at one corner of that street that we are co- naming.

         25  When did that policy change? And  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Council Member, I

          3  think that is beyond the scope of this hearing.  So

          4   --

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Councilman,

          6  I'll be happy to sit down with Councilman Stewart

          7  and go into great detail about the policy and what

          8  its ramifications are, if you'd like.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         11  Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         13  Member Stewart, for your understanding.

         14  Commissioner, and Deputy Commissioners, thank you

         15  very much for your time and testimony today.  And we

         16  look forward to working with you further on these

         17  issues, as envisioned by these two pieces of

         18  legislation.

         19                 I want to announce to the general

         20  public that the 12 noon hearing of the Housing and

         21  Buildings Committee will take place momentarily.

         22  But we do have a number of people to hear from

         23  concerning the issues pending before the

         24  Transportation and Aging Committees.  And so, at

         25  this time, Mr. Capano, and  --  Mr. Capano, please
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          2  approach the witness stand.  And Alene Hokenstand.

          3                 Immediately after Mr. Capano

          4  testifies, and Ms. Hokenstand testifies  --  she may

          5  no longer be here, actually  -- we will hear from

          6  Amy Pfeiffer, Richard Kuo, and Bobby Sackman.

          7                 Immediately after they testify, we'll

          8  hear from Peter Killen, Albert Asfazadour, Ted

          9  General, and Ralph Perfetto. And then following

         10  them, we'll hear from Edith Prentiss, and Anne

         11  Emerman.  And that will conclude the testimony for

         12  today's hearing.  I apologize to the couple of

         13  people who came in towards the end of the hearing

         14  and signed up to testify.  We simply will not have

         15  enough time today, and I beg your forgiveness We

         16  will ask all witnesses to limit their testimony to

         17  two minutes. Please proceed, Mr. Capano.

         18                 MR. CAPANO: Thank you very much.  My

         19  name is Bob Capano.  I'm the Director of Brooklyn

         20  Operations for Congressman Vito Fossella.

         21                 And let me just begin by saying a

         22  quick hello to Councilman Michael Nelson, Sara

         23  Gonzalez, Councilman Gentile, Brooklyn Council

         24  Members who I had the privilege of working with

         25  during my time as Director of Community Boards for
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          2  President Marty Markowitz.

          3                 With that, let me say thank you Mr.

          4  Chairman, for the opportunity to testify today about

          5  proving demarcations and signage at pedestrian curb

          6  cuts and crosswalks.  Last August, as a result of

          7  constituent complaints, and a published survey by

          8  the Bay Ridge Consumer Federation, Congressman

          9  Fossella requested that DOT address this matter.  I

         10  want to thank Councilman Gentile and the other

         11  sponsors for introducing this legislation.

         12                 These pedestrian curb cuts being

         13  discussed are all but invisible to motorists and

         14  pedestrians alike.  As a result, motorists have

         15  received $165 summonses for unknowingly blocking

         16  these unmarked areas.  I myself, personally, have

         17  received one of these summonses.  This summons can

         18  be the difference in whether a family goes to a

         19  Brooklyn Cyclones game, or is able to go out to one

         20  of our great restaurants in Brooklyn, one evening.

         21                 In addition, these pedestrian curb

         22  cuts are also designed to make life easier for

         23  handicapped residents.  In creating and maintaining

         24  these mid- block pedestrian curb cuts, we must

         25  ensure that these areas are safe and secure for our
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          2  handicapped and seniors, who are the most likely to

          3  use them. These curb cuts must be clearly marked in

          4  order to make them fully effective to these

          5  residents, and to ensure that motorists are not

          6  unfairly slapped with a $165 summons.

          7                 In order to accomplish these goals, I

          8  support the passage of Intro. No. 217.  I have

          9  always believed that the most common sense

         10  suggestions and ideas come from the people we serve.

         11  These suggestions by Bay Ridge community residents

         12  and others to clearly mark these curb cuts are

         13  examples of this, and I urge you to support this

         14  legislation.

         15                 Once again, thank you for the

         16  opportunity to testify on this matter.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         18  Mr. Capano. You have perfect timing.

         19                 MR. CAPANO: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And we have your

         21  testimony for the record.  Amy Pfeiffer, Richard

         22  Kuo, and Bobbie Sackman, please proceed to the

         23  witness table.

         24                 Following them will be Peter Killen,

         25  Albert Asfazadour, Ted General, and Ralph Perfetto.
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          2                 Please, if anybody has written

          3  testimony that they'd like to submit for this

          4  hearing, please do so.  It will be reviewed

          5  carefully.  Ms. Pfeiffer, please proceed.

          6                 MS. PFEIFFER: Good morning Chairman

          7  Liu and members of the Transportation Committee.  My

          8  name is Amy Pfeiffer.  I am the Program Director for

          9  Safe Routes for Seniors.  This is a joint project of

         10  Transportation Alternatives and the New York State

         11  Department of Health.  Thank you for convening this

         12  hearing.

         13                 Intros. 125 and 217 are potentially

         14  important pieces of legislation for New York City's

         15  elderly population and the disabilities community.

         16  People with visual impairments rely on consistent

         17  pedestrian crosswalk markings and guides to

         18  navigating intersections.  Likewise, pedestrian curb

         19  cuts are necessary to the mobility of people who use

         20  walkers and wheelchairs.  Without pedestrian curb

         21  cuts, this community does not have the same

         22  opportunity that all other pedestrians have.

         23                 It is important to recognize that

         24  senior citizens and people with visual and mobility

         25  impairments are more vulnerable to traffic crashes,
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          2  and require specific street features in order to use

          3  our City streets.

          4                 The Safe Routes for Seniors program

          5  works directly on modifying the urban environment

          6  for senior citizens and those with disabilities.

          7  This program has surveyed over 400 seniors in

          8  Washington Heights, Inwood, Harlem, and the Upper

          9  East Side.  There are some things that we know about

         10  senior citizen mobility.

         11                 First, seniors walk at an average

         12  rate of 2.5 feet per second.  Most of the traffic

         13  lights for New York City streets are timed for a

         14  rate of four feet per second.  In addition, studies

         15  have shown that seniors, on average, take two to

         16  four additional seconds to ascend the curb when the

         17  pedestrian phase starts.  This is due to cognitive

         18  changes inherent in aging, as well as a decreased

         19  ability to perceive the crossing distance, and the

         20  fear of falling.

         21                 This slower crossing time means that

         22  in NORCs, and neighborhoods with large senior

         23  populations, and in areas where the senior

         24  population is expected to grow, the City must re-

         25  time pedestrian crossings to allow enough safe time
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          2  for older New Yorkers to walk across the street.

          3                 Second, many seniors are overtaken by

          4  turning vehicles as they are looking at the

          5  crossing, rather than the vehicles.  Bla, bla, bla.

          6  The only way to prevent people from being killed or

          7  permanently disabled from roadway traumas, is to

          8  slow down motor vehicles.  The speed at which

          9  vehicles travel is exponentially related to the rate

         10  of deaths and disability from crashing.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Ms.

         12  Pfeiffer.  And we will take your written testimony

         13  and review it in detail.  None of it we consider

         14  blas.  Thank you.  Mr. Kuo.

         15                 MR. KUO: Councilman Liu, Councilman

         16  Nelson, Councilman Gentile, thank you for the

         17  opportunity to talk.

         18                 My name is Richard Kuo.  I'm

         19  Executive Director of Homecrest Community Services.

         20  Homecrest is a nonprofit community organization

         21  serving over 3,000 Asian- American senior centers,

         22  senior citizens in Sheepshead Bay, District 15, and

         23  Bensonhurst, Community District 11. HCS senior

         24  centers offers social, health, nutritional,

         25  educational, and recreational services for persons
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          2  over 60 years of age.

          3                 I'm testifying today in support of

          4  the senior crossing bill.  Many of our seniors walk

          5  to the senior centers, and are confronted every day

          6  with the risk of getting hit by cars, trucks, taxi

          7  drivers, and other vehicles, because there is no

          8  signage warning motorists to slow down and watch out

          9  for seniors crossing near the centers.

         10                 At the HCS senior center in

         11  Sheepshead Bay, there is an intersection with three-

         12  way traffic.  And at Bensonhurst, at New Utrecht and

         13  79th Street, which is a very heavily trafficked

         14  area. To illustrate the danger, just last week, on

         15  Monday, April 3rd, at 12 noon, one of our seniors

         16  was struck by a car at East 15th and Avenue T, as

         17  she was leaving the Sheepshead Bay senior center.

         18  There's a traffic light at this intersection, and

         19  the senior had the right of way.  She ended up with

         20  a serious head injury, probably not one of the

         21  fatalities that's probably part of the Department of

         22  Transportation's statistics, but nevertheless, a

         23  very important accident, and she was taken by

         24  ambulance to the nearest hospital, which is Coney

         25  Island Hospital.  Thankfully, she's back home today,
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          2  but this was a very, very serious condition.

          3                 We have seen many close calls at this

          4  location.  In addition to appropriate signage, I

          5  also endorse the Intro. 217, with the zebra stripes

          6  and with these paintings on the intersections.

          7  That's a very important piece of message to the

          8  seniors to walk in their appropriate designated

          9  areas.

         10                 Thank you very much, and I would like

         11  to conclude my testimony.  And thank you for having

         12  me today.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         14  Mr. Kuo.  Ms. Sackman.

         15                 MS. SACKMAN: Hi.  Bobbie Sackman,

         16  Council of Senior Centers and Services.  I want to

         17  thank you for holding this joint hearing today.  And

         18  this is going to be really brief.

         19                 I actually think the woman from

         20  Transportation Alternatives said it.  This City is

         21  getting older.  The demographics shows it.  And if

         22  we don't start planning, and actually doing things

         23  to make elder- friendly communities in many

         24  different ways, we're just not serving our senior

         25  citizens properly.  And probably pretty soon,
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          2  ourselves.

          3                 And so, I think making communities

          4  safer is key. What I didn't hear today  --  you

          5  know, maybe this is a good idea, one is a better

          6  idea  --  I did not hear the will and the interest

          7  to do a proactive plan for elderly people in this

          8  country.  In this country, well whatever.  In this

          9  City.  In the country too.  And that concerned me.

         10                 You know as well as I do, the first

         11  thing you need is the political will, and then other

         12  things follow.  So I really do urge you to use your

         13  power here to get DOT to do a plan.  Don't wait for

         14  a senior to call you, or a senior center to call

         15  you. Because I'll go out, I'll get my senior centers

         16  to call them.  But that's not how you do a plan.

         17                 So I'm asking you to please. You

         18  know, whatever else comes out of this hearing, to do

         19  that.

         20                 And I think that that was pretty much

         21  my main point, and everything else I wrote.

         22                 Oh, I have one more thing.  We do

         23  support 125, and I had spoken to Councilman Liu

         24  about this.  There is no logo for senior centers.

         25  And for years, people like me have wanted a
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          2  universal logo.  And it might actually play into

          3  what you're trying to do here.  I suggest there be a

          4  contest among high school and college students, art

          5  students, whatever.  Maybe some small amount of

          6  money, would help motivate, and come up with a

          7  universal senior center logo.  Because it would not

          8  only help this, but then seniors and their families

          9  would know that there's a senior center in the

         10  neighborhood, which sometimes, they don't know.

         11                 So you know, I just suggest you think

         12  about it.  And obviously, my organization would love

         13  to work with you on something like that.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         15  Ms. Sackman. I'd like to ask our next panel to come

         16  up.  Mr. Killen.  Mr. Asfazadour.  Mr. General.  And

         17  Mr. Perfetto.  Please join us at the witness table.

         18  I know there are lots of people here for the Housing

         19  and Buildings Committee, which will convene in a

         20  matter of minutes.  And I want to thank the Chair of

         21  that Committee, Council Member Eric Dilan for his

         22  patience and indulgence in allowing us to finish

         23  hearing testimony from the people who have travelled

         24  great distances to come to today's hearing.

         25                 I want to thank the public for their
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          2  patience, and we are also honored to be joined in

          3  these chambers by two distinguished members of the

          4  United States House of Representatives, the

          5  Honorable Nydia Valasquez and the Honorable Edophus

          6  Town.  Thank you for being here.

          7                 Gentlemen, please proceed.

          8                 MR. KILLEN: Council Member Liu,

          9  Councilwoman Carmen del Arroyo.  My name is Peter

         10  Killen.  I'm the Executive Director of the Bay Ridge

         11  Consumer Federation.  I have my team with me.  Mr.

         12  Al Asfazadour, and Mr. Ted General.

         13                 Last year, we did a survey of Bay

         14  Ridge.  And we found out that DOT, with their

         15  contractors, had put in dozens of handicapped ramps

         16  in the middle of blocks at "T" intersections. These

         17  ramps are not marked.  There is no paint on them.

         18  There are not any crosswalks.  Immediately, people

         19  were given summonses for $165 if they parked at

         20  these ramps.  And as you can see from some of the

         21  photos there, you cannot see these ramps.  If you're

         22  in the passenger side  --  I'm sorry, if you're in

         23  the driver's side, and you move to the passenger

         24  side, and you park passenger side to the curb, you

         25  are never going to see these ramps.
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          2                 We found that many of these passenger

          3  ramps for the handicapped are not marked in any way.

          4    There are no crosswalks markings.  These ramps are

          5  poorly visible because they blend almost stealth-

          6  like on the sidewalks where they are located.  And

          7  there are no markings of any kind to bring them to

          8  the attention of the motorists.

          9                 We also discovered that motorists who

         10  park their cars on these ramps are receiving

         11  summonses for $165.  This is a Citywide plague.  As

         12  the Commissioner stated, they're all over the City.

         13  That not only affects the people of Bay Ridge, but

         14  of all of New York City.

         15                 The Bay Ridge Consumer Federation

         16  believes that the driving public understands that

         17  they are not allowed to park on a crosswalk.  We

         18  know this, when we drive.  We see double white lines

         19  going from one side of the street to the other, we

         20  do not park in that location.  These ramps are

         21  unmarked.  They're placed in the middle of the

         22  blocks.  And there are no warnings, including since

         23  they're handicapped and a handicapped person may be

         24  in a wheelchair, sees it, wheels out into the middle

         25  of the street.  No motorist is even going to see
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          2  this person.  And if a person just walks, sees the

          3  ramp, and decides to cross the street, and as we

          4  know, accidents happen.

          5                 There are no markings telling a

          6  motorist or anyone else that they're going to be hit

          7  by a car.

          8                 And very quickly, we have petitioned

          9  our Councilman, Vincent Gentile, to put this bill

         10  into law, and he framed a great bill.  It's a

         11  perfect law.  Where the Federation said bright

         12  yellow, Intro. No. 217 says, conspicuous and

         13  consistent color that is visible to pedestrians.  We

         14  will yield to that conspicuous color.  We support

         15  this law in its entirety.  And strongly request that

         16  your Committee bring it before the City Council, and

         17  then we will request that the full City Council pass

         18  Intro. No. 217 into law.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         20  Mr. Killen. Mr. Asfazadour, please be brief.

         21                 MR. ASFAZADOUR: Yes.  Councilman

         22  Gentile, thank you. And other members of the City

         23  Council, thank you.  My name is Albert Asfazadour.

         24  I live in Bay Ridge.  I'm a member of the Bay Ridge

         25  Consumer Federation.
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          2                 I'm not going to repeat everything

          3  Pete said, but that is the gist.  You must  --

          4  there's two items here, on painting the crosswalks.

          5  One, the pedestrian must have safety to go across

          6  the street.  And number two, the motorists must be

          7  aware that they cannot park there.

          8                 I'm going to bring up another issue,

          9  very quickly. It's called the cut- off dome turn

         10  buckle.  The present ones  --  I would like the

         11  specifications for all new handicapped ramps, that

         12  what they call a cut- off dome turn buckle.  Which

         13  is bumps, rather than traction threads.  People who

         14  have visibly impaired do not know that they're

         15  walking out into the street.  Please consider this

         16  in future reference.

         17                 I was very disappointed with some of

         18  the testimony from the Commissioner and Deputy

         19  Commissioner of the Department of Traffic.  Please

         20  review their testimony and see if you do agree with

         21  it.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         23  Mr. Asfazadour. Mr. General.

         24                 MR. GENERAL: All right.  My name is

         25  Ted General, and I'm also a member of the Bay Ridge
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          2  Consumer Federation.  Council Chair Arroyo and Liu,

          3  and members of the respective Committees.

          4                 With the growing use of motorized

          5  wheelchairs, it's especially important that these

          6  pedestrian ramps have crosswalks painted from one

          7  side of the street to the other.  This is a very

          8  serious concern, where ramps have been placed mid-

          9  block, without markings so motorists can readily

         10  see.

         11                 There are several sites in the Bay

         12  Ridge section of Brooklyn, along Shore Road, Marine

         13  Avenue, 68th Street, and 101st Street, where these

         14  ramps should be highlighted and crosswalks painted

         15  for both the protection of wheelchair- bound riders

         16  and motorists.

         17                 We hope the Committee will serious

         18  consideration to this bill pending before you, that

         19  would require DOT to highlight these ramps.  Thank

         20  you all.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         22  for your brevity.  Mr. Perfetto.

         23                 MR. PERFETTO: Thank you Mr. Or Madam

         24  Chairpersons, and distinguished members of the New

         25  York City Council.  My name is Ralph Perfetto.  I am
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          2  a Democratic District Leader and State Committee man

          3  in the 60th Assembly District in Brooklyn.

          4                 I'm speaking here on behalf of my

          5  wife, Phyllis O'Neil Perfetto, who is the Founder

          6  and Past President of the American Heritage

          7  Democratic Organization.

          8                 This report is part of a study that

          9  we began, both she and I, in October of 1996.  I

         10  want to preface my comments by saying that we have

         11  profound respect for the Department of

         12  Transportation, Commissioner Weinshall, Mike

         13  Primeggia, Gerald Sophian (phonetic) Laurie Ardito,

         14  Joe Palmeri, Noris Powell, Ray Edwards.  Many

         15  people, and John Palmer.  They are great people,

         16  doing great jobs.  But, they don't know everything

         17  about what goes on in the communities.  The

         18  respective people know their communities best.

         19                 While walking  --  I'm submitting my

         20  proposal.  And this is on behalf of my wife, Phyllis

         21  O'Neil Perfetto.  I'm submitting my proposal, which

         22  I presented to DOT Commissioner Weinshall on July

         23  18, 2005, regarding the parking condition that is

         24  unfair to motorists and handicapped people alike.

         25  This is not a condition confined to the borough of
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          2  Brooklyn, but it is a condition and problem that is

          3  Citywide.

          4                 The initial curb cuts in those other

          5   --  we're talking about the pedestrian ramps, had a

          6  yellow concrete secure pad with concrete declined

          7  aprons which guides to keep a wheelchair on track.

          8  A subsequent version was installed that is efficient

          9  and far less costly.  However, it has become a

         10  problem for motorists and wheelchair- bound persons

         11  alike.

         12                 The apron is difficult to distinguish

         13  in the daytime, and very difficult at night.  As a

         14  result, unaware motorists can park within the

         15  furthest line of the apron, and violate the law,

         16  thereby leaving them vulnerable for summonses.

         17                 Conversely, they make it difficult

         18  for wheelchair bound person to navigate a street

         19  crossing.  Under the present conditions, the only

         20  winners are the Traffic Enforcement agents.

         21                 We observed the 15- feet distance

         22  from fire hydrants because of the yellow traffic

         23  painted curbs.  And the double yellow line of two-

         24  way streets.  Without them, one can only imagine

         25  what tragedies would occur.
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          2                 My suggestion would create great

          3  relief for motorists and handicapped people alike.

          4  And I will say this. Commissioner Weinshall spoke

          5  about six million dollars to paint these pedestrian

          6  ramps.  Generally there are some that are varied.

          7  However, by and large, most of them are 10 feet from

          8  apron to apron, seven inches wide.  Yellow traffic

          9  paint is a durable paint. And a few years ago, the

         10  Parks Department had a beautification, neighborhood

         11  beautification program, where they gave

         12  organizations paint to paint them.  I say give that

         13  paint to the communities. That six million dollars

         14  will be decreased dramatically.

         15                 Thank you so much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Mr.

         17  Perfetto.  Thank you very much.  I want to ask Anne

         18  Emerman and Edith Prentiss to join us at the witness

         19  table.  Gentlemen, I want to especially thank you.

         20  I know that you have travelled a long way from Bay

         21  Ridge, and braved the extraordinary backup today on

         22  the Brooklyn/Queens Expressway.  But you should also

         23  rest assured in knowing that Council Member Vincent

         24  Gentile has been shall we say, very, very vocally

         25  and forcefully in advocating this particular bill.
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          2                 Thank you gentlemen for joining us.

          3  Ms. Prentiss, please proceed.

          4                 MS. PRENTISS: Hi.  Welcome.   I'm not

          5  going to waste my time.  First and foremost, we

          6  support 125 and 217.   But for sort of different

          7  reasons.  I'm speaking as a President Emeritus of

          8  the Manhattan Boroughwide InterAgency Council, a

          9  member of the Board of Washington Heights Inwood

         10  Council on Aging, for the Disability Network of New

         11  York City, and as the First VP of the Disabled in

         12  Action.

         13                 We would like to see an addition to

         14  seniors, these considerations be offered to service

         15  agencies and residents of persons with disabilities.

         16    Come on.  You've got Renwick.  You've got Sellis.

         17  You know.  Let's face it.  Those are dangerous

         18  situations as well.  I personally can't figure out

         19  what the thing is, and I'm sure most people can't.

         20  When you start talking about changing timing and

         21  you're not supposed to cross when the light is

         22  flashing, excuse me.  When are we supposed to cross.

         23                 I move faster than most pedestrians,

         24  and most seniors when I gear the chair up.  I can't

         25  get across Broadway. And when the center island
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          2  doesn't have a curb cut, excuse me.  We have a

          3  problem here.  I have a problem conceptually with

          4  the concept that drivers don't know they're not

          5  supposed to cross, park where there's not a curb

          6  cut.  Painting.  You know, we're going to call it

          7  how they park in those all the time.

          8                 When I learned to drive in 1968, I

          9  remember when you took the learner's book, you

         10  learned to yield to pedestrians, don't park, don't

         11  cross, whatever.  Have the rules changed?  It's the

         12  same thing.  It's like you know, turn signals.

         13  Yield to pedestrians.  Stop for light.  All of these

         14  things.  Pedestrians are victims waiting to happen

         15  in New York City.

         16                 I've been hit twice in the crosswalk,

         17  with a solid green.  Both times by vehicles coming

         18  behind me.  It's terrifying out there.  I think we

         19  need more enforcement.  In the post 911 environment,

         20  there is no issue for enforcement.  We need that.

         21  All pedestrians need it.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         23    And our final witness for today, Ms. Emerman.

         24                 MS. EMERMAN: Good afternoon.  My name

         25  is Anne Emerman.  And I'm testifying on behalf of
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          2  Disabled in Action and the New York City Chapter of

          3  the Gray Panthers.  And testifying in favor of

          4  Intro. 125 and 217.

          5                 Both bills are a positive step toward

          6  protecting seniors, people with disabilities, short

          7  people, and children in pedestrian crosswalks.  But

          8  more is needed to achieve greater pedestrian safety

          9  in the City.  The Council must pass additional

         10  legislation to force DOT to give extra exclusive

         11  crossing time on all City corners.  As recommended

         12  by AARP and Transportation Alternatives.  Council

         13  must pass a bill that requires installation of

         14  audible accessible pedestrian signals at crossings.

         15  Audible traffic signals will aid blind, low vision,

         16  elderly, persons with traumatic brain injury, and

         17  others who have cognitive deficits, and difficulty

         18  processing information.

         19                 I've started collecting again, just

         20  in the past year.  And here are just a few of the

         21  many recently reported accidents involving aged

         22  persons and disabled persons.  And I won't go

         23  through all of them.

         24                 Eighteen wheeler kills East Side

         25  Granny, Aged 75.
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          2                 Old woman sent flying by beer truck

          3  in Brooklyn.  77 years old.

          4                 SUV kills man in a wheelchair.  The

          5  victim was 41.

          6                 Perilous Crossing.  A school bus

          7  struck a person at in a motorized scooter.

          8                 This is in Bay Ridge.  Man fatally

          9  struck by car. 85 years old.

         10                 Body of women hit by New Jersey

         11  transit bus crossing 10th Avenue and 35th Street in

         12  Manhattan.

         13                 Daily News.  Nun just latest victim

         14  at killer corner.  80 years old.

         15                 I'm going to say, you know, go on.

         16  78 years old, man   --  and so and on and so on, and

         17  so on.

         18                 I have them all here.  I want to say

         19  how many more elderly and disabled City residents

         20  have to die crossing the streets in New York City

         21  before the Council passes legislation to force DOT

         22  to initiate fairly low- cost street and traffic

         23  improvements at every intersection Citywide.

         24                 I just want to say, I was hit by an

         25  18- wheel Mack truck 10 years ago, April 8th, 1996.
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          2  I am alive today.  Going down 5th Avenue, crossing

          3  21st Street, on my way to a meeting.  I'm alive

          4  today.  Because an undocumented bicycle messenger

          5  from Panama saw what was happening, and shouted.  I

          6  heard the shout at the time that I saw this huge

          7  grill hitting me.  I am alive today because he

          8  stopped his truck.  I was thrown to the ground with

          9  fairly minor injuries.  The chair suffered more than

         10  I did.

         11                 But I have to say, I was crossing

         12  with the light. I looked, saw the truck and other

         13  cars going south, crossing the street, and I did

         14  detour slightly around a manhole that had a pothole.

         15    To go around that.  At that point, I could have

         16  been dead.  He didn't see me.  So we need additional

         17  time to cross, both people in wheelchairs, and the

         18  elderly, and children, and short people.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Ms. Emerman, we're

         20  very, very happy that you are here with us.  And

         21  continue to provide important testimony to the City

         22  Council.

         23                 MS. EMERMAN: Thank you.  But do  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         25  for your testimony today.  I want to thank everybody
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          2  who participated in today's joint hearing of the

          3  Transportation and Aging Committees for being out

          4  here.  I deeply apologize to the individuals who had

          5  signed up to testify, but because of our time

          6  constraints, we were not able to call them up for

          7  their testimony.

          8                 I will be outside in the Rotunda to

          9  hear any of your input directly, and receive any

         10  written testimony that you have. So thank you for

         11  bearing with us.

         12                 I also want to thank the indulgence

         13  of the Chair of the Housing and Buildings Committee

         14  and his members for allowing us to go past our time.

         15    And also to thank the general public and our

         16  members of Congress, Congresswoman Nydia Valazquez

         17  and Congressman Edolphus Town for their patience.

         18                 There being no other testimony, this

         19  hearing of the Transportation and Aging Committee is

         20  adjourned.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 12:31 p.m.)
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